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CAUTIONARY NOTE REGARDING FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS
This Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q contains "forward-looking statements" within the meaning of Section 27A of the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, and
Section 21E of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, concerning our business, consolidated financial condition, and results of operations. The
Securities and Exchange Commission, or SEC, encourages companies to disclose forward-looking statements so that investors can better understand a
company’s future prospects and make informed investment decisions. Forward-looking statements are subject to risks and uncertainties, many of which are
outside our control, which could cause actual results to differ materially from these statements. Therefore, you should not rely on any of these forwardlooking statements. Forward-looking statements can be identified by such words as "will," "likely," "may," "believe," "expect," "anticipate," "intend," "seek,"
"designed," "develop," "would," "future," "can," "could," and other expressions that are predictions of or indicate future events and trends and that do not
relate to historical matters. All statements other than statements of historical facts included in this Quarterly Report regarding our strategies, prospects,
financial condition, operations, costs, plans, and objectives and regarding the proposed acquisition of our company by Biogen Switzerland Holdings
GmbH and its affiliates, or Biogen, are forward-looking statements. Examples of forward-looking statements include, among others, statements regarding
expected future operating results; expectations regarding the timing and receipt of regulatory results; anticipated levels of capital expenditures; expectations
of the effect on our financial condition of claims, litigation, and governmental and regulatory proceedings; and any effects of the proposed acquisition of our
company by Biogen including the occurrence of any event, chance or other circumstance that could give risk to the termination of the proposed
transaction. Our forward-looking statements do not assume the consummation of the proposed acquisition of our company by Biogen unless specifically
stated otherwise.
Please refer to the section entitled “Risk Factors” in Part I of our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2018, or the Annual Report,
for important factors that we believe could cause actual results to differ materially from those in our forward-looking statements. Those risk factors, together
with any updates to those risk factors contained in our subsequent periodic and current reports filed with the SEC, could cause actual future results or events
to differ materially from the forward-looking statements that we make. Any forward-looking statement made by us are based only on information currently
available to us and speaks only as of the date on which it is made. You should read this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q and the documents that we have filed
as exhibits to the Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q with the understanding that our actual future results may be materially different from what we expect. We
undertake no obligation to publicly update any forward-looking statement, whether written or oral, that may be made from time to time, whether as a result of
new information, future developments, or otherwise.
This Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q also includes statistical and other industry and market data, which we obtained from our own internal estimates and
research, as well as from industry and general publications and research, surveys, and studies conducted by third parties. Industry publications, studies, and
surveys generally state that they have been obtained from sources believed to be reliable, although they do not guarantee the accuracy or completeness of
such information. While we believe that each of these studies and publications is reliable, we have not independently verified market and industry data from
third‑party sources. While we believe our internal company research is reliable and the market definitions are appropriate, neither such research nor these
definitions have been verified by any independent source.
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Item 1 Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements (Unaudited)
NIGHTSTAR THERAPEUTICS PLC
Condensed Consolidated Balance Sheets
(in thousands, except per share amounts)
March 31,
2019

Assets
Current assets:
Cash and cash equivalents
Marketable securities
Research and development credit
Prepaid expenses and other current assets
Total current assets
Property and equipment, net
Other assets
Total assets

$

$

Liabilities and shareholders’ equity
Current liabilities:
Accounts payable
Accrued expenses and other liabilities
Total current liabilities
Long-term lease obligations
Total liabilities
Commitments and contingencies (see Note 12)
Shareholders’ equity:
Ordinary shares, £0.01 nominal value; 100,000 shares
authorized as of March 31, 2019 and December 31, 2018;
33,484 and 33,486 shares issued and outstanding
at March 31, 2019 and December 31, 2018, respectively
Additional paid-in capital
Accumulated other comprehensive income (loss):
Cumulative foreign currency translation adjustment
Unrealized holding gains on available for sales securities
Total accumulated other comprehensive loss
Accumulated deficit
Total shareholders’ equity
Total liabilities and shareholders’ equity

$

$

94,513
58,944
8,661
5,712
167,830
489
1,414
169,733

$

2,976
16,686
19,662
351
20,013

$

$

27,784
136,385
8,268
6,605
179,042
562
409
180,013

3,017
11,360
14,377
—
14,377

61
268,967

61
267,233

(4,855 )
823
(4,032 )
(115,276 )
149,720
169,733

(4,855 )
2,081
(2,774 )
(98,884 )
165,636
180,013

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these condensed consolidated financial statements.
2

December 31,
2018

$

NIGHTSTAR THERAPEUTICS PLC
Condensed Consolidated Statements of Operations and Comprehensive Loss
(in thousands, except per share amounts)
Three months ended March 31,
2019
2018

Operating expenses:
Research and development
General and administrative
Total operating expenses
Other income (expense):
Interest and other income
Other income (expense), net
Total other income (expense), net
Loss before provision for income taxes
Provision for income taxes
Net loss
Other comprehensive income (loss):
Foreign currency translation adjustment
Change in net unrealized holding gains (losses) on available for sale securities
Total other comprehensive loss
Basic and diluted net loss per ordinary share
Weighted average basic and diluted ordinary shares

$

$
$

8,898
9,663
18,561

6,064
2,776
8,840

1,107
1,101
2,208
(16,353 )
39
(16,392 )

367
(5,885 )
(5,518 )
(14,358 )
—
(14,358 )

—
(1,258 )
(17,650 )
(0.50 )
32,944

6,346
—
(8,012 )
(0.52 )
27,862

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these condensed consolidated financial statements.
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$

$
$

NIGHTSTAR THERAPEUTICS PLC
Condensed Consolidated Statements of Shareholders’ Equity
(in thousands)
Additional
Paid-In
Capital

Ordinary Shares
Shares
Amount

Balance at December 31, 2017
Issuance of restricted share awards, net
Share-based compensation expense
Foreign currency translation adjustment
Net loss
Balance at March 31, 2018
Balance at December 31, 2018
Forfeiture of restricted share awards
Share-based compensation expense
Change in net unrealized holding gains (losses) on
available for sale securities, net of $169 of tax
Net loss
Balance at March 31, 2019

28,904 $
(10,321 )
—
—
—
18,583 $

1
—
—
—
—
1

$

$

185,943
—
836
—
—
186,779

Accumulated
Other
Comprehensive
Income (Loss)

Accumulated
Deficit

$

$

$

1,890
—
—
6,346
—
8,236

$

33,486
(2 )
—

61
—
—

267,233
—
1,734

(2,774 )
—
—

—
—
33,484

—
—
61

—
—
268,967

(1,258 )
—
(4,032 ) $

$

$

$

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these condensed consolidated financial statements.
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Total

(62,022 ) $
—
—
—
(14,358 )
(76,380 ) $

125,812
—
836
6,346
(14,358 )
118,636

(98,884 )
—
—

165,636
—
1,734

—
(16,392 )
(115,276 ) $

(1,258 )
(16,392 )
149,720

NIGHTSTAR THERAPEUTICS PLC
Condensed Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows
(in thousands)
Three Months Ended March 31,
2019
2018

Cash flows from operating activities:
Net loss
Adjustments to reconcile net loss to net cash used in operating activities:
Depreciation and amortization
Non-cash share-based compensation
Accretion on marketable securities
Deferred taxes
Unrealized foreign currency (gains) losses
Realized investment (gains) losses
Changes in operating assets and liabilities:
Research and development tax credit receivable
Prepaid expenses and other assets
Accounts payable
Accrued expenses and other liabilities
Net cash used in operating activities
Cash flows from investing activities:
Proceeds from maturities of marketable securities
Purchases of property and equipment
Net cash provided by (used in) investing activities
Net cash provided by financing activities
Effect of exchange rate changes on cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash
Net increase (decrease) in cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash
Cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash, beginning of period
Cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash, end of period

$

$

(16,392 )

(14,358 )

86
1,734
(537 )
(44 )
(136 )
(1,110 )

61
836
—
—
4,509
—

(392 )
893
16
4,520
(11,362 )

(1,382 )
908
1,765
(1,261 )
(8,922 )

78,000
(14 )
77,986
—
105
66,729
27,842
94,571

—
(43 )
(43 )
—
1,838
(7,127 )
129,404
122,277

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these condensed consolidated financial statements.
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$

$

NIGHTSTAR THERAPEUTICS PLC
Notes to Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements
1. Nature of the Business
Nightstar Therapeutics plc (the “Company”) is a clinical-stage gene therapy company focused on developing and commercializing novel one-time treatments
for patients suffering from rare inherited retinal diseases that would otherwise progress to blindness. The Company is developing a pipeline of proprietary
product candidates that are designed to substantially modify or halt the progression of inherited retinal diseases for which there are no currently approved
treatments. The Company’s lead product candidate, NSR-REP1, for the treatment of choroideremia is in Phase 3 clinical development. The Company’s
second product candidate, NSR-RPGR, is in Phase 2/3 clinical development for the treatment of X-linked retinitis pigmentosa. The Company also has
product candidates in preclinical development for a number of inherited retinal diseases for which there are no approved treatments such as Stargardt disease.

2. Basis of Presentation
The terms “Nightstar” and “the Company” each refer to Nightstar Therapeutics plc and its subsidiaries, unless the context indicates otherwise. The
accompanying unaudited consolidated condensed financial statements were prepared in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles in the
United States (“GAAP”), for interim financial information and with the instructions to Form 10-Q and Article 10 and Article 8 of Regulation S-X of the
Securities and Exchange Commission (“SEC”). Accordingly, certain information and footnote disclosure have been condensed or omitted.
These unaudited consolidated condensed financial statements should be read in conjunction with the consolidated financial statements and accompanying
notes to consolidated financial statements included in the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2018. In the
Company’s opinion, the accompanying unaudited consolidated condensed financial statements reflect all adjustments, consisting of normal recurring
accruals, considered necessary for a fair presentation, in all material respects, of the information contained herein. Results for the interim periods are not
necessarily indicative of results that may be expected for the year.
See the recently adopted accounting pronouncements section in Note 11 below for information concerning the adoption of new accounting
guidance. Except for these changes, Nightstar has consistently applied the accounting policies to all periods presented in these unaudited condensed
consolidated financial statements. The adoption of new accounting guidance did not result in significant changes in the Company’s reporting of its assets,
liabilities, equity, operations and cash flow.

3. Foreign Currency Translation
On January 1, 2019, the Company adopted the U.S. dollar as its functional currency. The change from the pound sterling is due to the continued expansion
of our operations in the U.S. and the change in anticipated long-term shift of operations from the United Kingdom to the U.S in 2019 and beyond. This
resulted in a significant reduction in foreign currency transaction gains and losses in 2019, when compared to prior periods. The foreign currency exchange
transaction gain was $0.1 million for the three months ended March 31, 2019, compared to a foreign currency transaction exchange loss of $5.9 million in the
three months ended March 31, 2018. Foreign exchange transaction gains and losses are included net in other income (expense) in the condensed
consolidated statement of operations and comprehensive loss for the respective periods.
Foreign currency exchange gains and losses are driven primarily by balances of cash, cash equivalents and marketable securities, as well as accounts payable,
denominated in a currency other than the Company’s functional currency. A significant majority of these balances are denominated in U.S. dollars. Prior to
January 1, 2019, the functional currency of the Company was the pound sterling. Accordingly, a substantial portion of foreign currency transaction gains and
losses in the years and interim periods in prior periods related to the exchange rate changes between the U.S. dollar and pound sterling on the U.S. dollar
denominated funds held by the Company.
The Company’s reporting currency has been and continues to be the U.S. dollar. For periods prior to January 1, 2019, the functional currency was pounds
sterling and the reporting currency was the U.S. dollar. Translation adjustments were not included in the determination of net loss; they were included as
foreign currency translation adjustments in accumulated other comprehensive income (loss), a component of shareholders’ equity. With the adoption of the
U.S. dollar as the Company’s functional currency, the cumulative foreign currency translation adjustment of $4.9 million as of January 1, 2019, will be
retained as a part of shareholders’ equity. The Company recorded a foreign currency translation adjustment gain of $6.3 million for three months ended
March 31, 2018 and none for the three months ended March 31, 2019.
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4. Fair Value of Financial Assets and Liabilities
The Company’s investments are all classified within Levels 1 and 2 of the fair value hierarchy. The Company’s investments classified within Level 1 of the
fair value hierarchy are valued based quoted prices in active markets. The Company’s investments classified in Level 2 of the fair value hierarchy are based
on matrix pricing compiled by third party pricing vendors, using observable market inputs such as interest rates, yield curves, and credit risk. For cash,
current receivables, and accounts payable, the carrying amounts approximate fair value because of the short maturity of these instruments, and therefore fair
value information is not included in the table below (in thousands):

Total

Money market funds and short-term
U.S. Treasury securities, included in
cash and cash equivalents
U.S Treasury securities

$
$
$

March 31, 2019
Level 1

92,586
58,944
151,530

$
$

92,586
38,420
131,006

Level 2

$
$

December 31, 2018
Level 1

Total

—
20,524
20,524

$
$
$

23,514
136,385
159,899

$

23,514
100,949
124,463

$

Level 2

$
$

—
35,436
35,436

The Company did not have transfers in or out of Level 3 of the fair value hierarchy during the three months ended March 31, 2019 and 2018. The Company
had no liabilities measured at fair value on a recurring basis as of March 31, 2019 and December 31, 2018.
5. Marketable securities
As of March 31, 2019, the Company held the following investments in marketable securities classified as available-for-sale (in thousands):

U.S. Treasury securities (1)

1 - 3 months

Gross
Unrealized
Holding Gains
(Losses)

Amortized
cost

Maturity

$

57,952

$

992

Aggregate
Estimated Fair
Value

$

58,944

As of December 31, 2018, the Company held the following investments in marketable securities classified as available-for-sale (in thousands):

U.S. Treasury securities (1)
(1)

3 - 9 months

Gross
Unrealized
Holding Gains
(Losses)

Amortized
cost

Maturity

$

133,899

$

2,486

Aggregate
Estimated Fair
Value

$

136,385

Gross unrealized holding gains (losses) includes $0.9 million and $2.5 million impact of foreign currency exchange rate fluctuations as of March 31, 2019 and
December 31, 2018, respectively.

All of the Company’s investments are classified as available-for-sale and are carried at fair value with unrealized gains and losses recorded as a component of
accumulated other comprehensive income (loss), net of related income taxes. The Company did not have any investments in marketable securities at March
31, 2018.
No securities have been in an unrealized loss position for more than one year. Gross unrealized holding gains of $0.8 million are reported in accumulated
other comprehensive income at March 31, 2019, net of tax.
During the three months ended March 31, 2019, the Company realized $1.3 million in foreign currency gains on the settlement of maturing marketable
securities as a result of favorable foreign currency exchange rate fluctuations. Realized gains and losses are determined using the specific identification
method, reclassified from accumulated other comprehensive income and included in other income, net on the statement of comprehensive income.
6. Share-Based Compensation
Under its equity incentive plans, the Company granted 1,160,355 options to acquire shares at the weighted average price of $14.17, the closing selling prices
on the dates of the grants, in the three months ended March 31, 2019. In the three months ended March 31,
7

2018, the Company granted 676,576 options to acquire shares at the weighted average price of $13.82, the closing selling prices on the dates of the
grants. In the three months ended March 31, 2019 and 2018, there were no restricted shares awarded.
The following share-based compensation expense was recognized for the periods indicated (in thousands):
Three months ended March 31,
2019
2018

Research and development
General and administrative
Total share-based compensation

$
$

629
1,105
1,734

$

301
535
836

$

The Company grants equity awards under its share-based compensation programs, which awards may include share options, restricted share awards (“RSAs”),
restricted share units (“RSUs”) and other share-based awards. To date, the share-based awards granted to employees and directors have been in the form of
RSAs, RSUs and share options.
The Company recognizes compensation expense for equity awards based on the grant date fair value of the award on a straight-line basis over the requisite
service period. The Company uses the fair value of its ordinary shares to determine the fair value of RSAs and RSUs. The fair value of options is determined
using the Black-Scholes option pricing model. The Company accounts for forfeitures as they occur.
7. Earnings per Share
Basic and diluted net loss per ordinary share are determined by dividing the net loss by the weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding during
the period. For the periods presented, the weighted average shares outstanding used to calculate both basic and diluted net loss per ordinary share are the
same because the inclusion of the Company’s outstanding common share equivalents would be anti-dilutive. The securities excluded from the earnings per
share calculation for the three months periods were:
March 31,
2019

Unvested RSAs and RSUs
Unvested and vested share options

549,743
2,253,121

2018

1,093,751
867,851

8. Research and Development Tax Credit
As a company that carries out extensive research and development activities, the Company seeks to benefit from U.K. research and development tax credit
cash rebate regimes. Based on criteria established by Her Majesty’s Revenue and Customs (“HMRC”), the Company expects a proportion of its expenditures
in relation to its pipeline research, clinical trials management and manufacturing development activities to be eligible for inclusion within tax credit cash
rebate regimes.
The Company recorded U.K. research and development tax credits as an offset to research and development expense in the condensed consolidated
statements of operations and comprehensive loss of $1.9 million and $1.4 million for the three months ended March 31, 2019 and 2018, respectively.
9. Income Taxes
The Company accounts for income taxes using the asset and liability method, which requires the recognition of deferred tax assets and liabilities for the
expected future tax consequences of events that have been recognized in the condensed consolidated financial statements or in its tax returns. Deferred tax
assets and liabilities are determined on the basis of the differences between the condensed consolidated financial statements and tax basis of assets and
liabilities using enacted tax rates in effect for the year in which the differences are expected to reverse. Changes in deferred tax assets and liabilities are
recorded in the provision for income taxes. The Company assesses the likelihood that deferred tax assets will be recovered in the future and, to the extent
management believes, based upon the weight of available evidence, that it is more likely than not that all or a portion of the deferred tax assets will not be
realized, a valuation allowance is established through a charge to income tax expense. Potential for recovery of deferred tax assets is evaluated by estimating
the future taxable profits expected and considering prudent and feasible tax planning strategies.
For the three months ended March 31, 2019, the Company recognized income tax expense of $39,000 and net tax impact to other comprehensive loss of $0.2
million. There was no income tax provision for the three months ended March 31, 2018. The Company has not recorded any amounts for unrecognized tax
benefits as of March 31, 2019 and December 31, 2018.
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The Company files income tax returns in the United Kingdom, United States and certain state and local jurisdictions. The income tax returns are generally
subject to tax examinations for the tax years ended December 31, 2013 through December 31, 2018. There are currently no pending income tax return
examinations.
Research and development tax credits received from HMRC are recognized as offsets to research and development expenses.

10. Related Party Transactions
As more fully described in Note 15 to the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2018, in the normal course of business,
the Company has entered into agreements with entities that are considered to be related parties. In the three months ended March 31, 2019, the Company
reported no significant business with entities affiliated with Syncona Partner LLP, Syncona Limited. In the three months ended March 31, 2019, activities
with University of Oxford and its subsidiaries incurred $0.1 million of research expenses, and reported a remaining unpaid obligation of $0.2 million. In the
three months ended March 31, 2019, the Company incurred $82,000 of research expenses, and reported remaining unpaid obligations of $0.1 million with
Prof. Robert MacLaren, a former member of the Company’s board of directors.
11. Commitments and Contingencies
Implementation Agreement costs
Pursuant to the terms of the Implementation Agreement with Biogen Switzerland Holdings GmbH (together with its affiliates, “Biogen”) and Tungsten Bidco
Limited (“Bidco”), Bidco agreed to acquire the entire issued and to be issued share capital of the Company for $25.50 in cash per ordinary share, par value
£0.01 per share (the “Company Shares”). Under the terms of the Implementation Agreement, the acquisition will be implemented by means of a scheme of
arrangement to be undertaken by the Company under Part 26 of the UK Companies Act 2006.
In the three months ended March 31, 2019, the Company recognized $5.8 million in cost in the performance of its due diligence review and other costs
related to the Implementation Agreement. For the three months ended March 31, 2019 these costs are reported in general and administrative expense. If the
Implementation Agreement is terminated by the Company under certain circumstances, including termination by the Company following receipt of an
unsolicited bona fide written acquisition proposal that the Company’s Board of Directors determines constitutes a superior proposal, the Company will be
required to pay to Biogen a compensatory fee of $8.8 million. The Company expects additional expenses will be incurred in connection with the closing of
the transaction with Biogen.
Legal Proceedings
Three shareholder complaints have been filed in connection with the pending acquisition of the Company by Biogen (the “Acquisition”). On April 23, 2019,
Stephen Bushansky, a purported holder of American Depositary Shares (“ADSs”) of the Company, filed a complaint in the United States District Court for the
District of Massachusetts, captioned Stephen Bushansky v. Nightstar Therapeutics plc et al., Civil Action No. 1:19-cv-10903, against the Company and each
member of its board of directors (the “Board”). On April 26, 2019, Earl Wheby, a purported Company shareholder, filed a putative federal securities class
action complaint in the United States District Court for the District of Delaware, captioned Earl M. Wheby, Jr. v. Nightstar Therapeutics plc et al., Case
No. 1:19-cv-00761-UNA,against the Company, each member of the Board and Biogen Inc. Also on April 26, 2019, Brennan Evans, a purported Company
shareholder, filed a complaint in the United States District Court for the Southern District of New York, captioned Brennan Evans v. Nightstar Therapeutics
plc et al., Case No. 1:19-cv-03743, against the Company and each member of the Board. On May 1, 2019, the plaintiff in Wheby voluntarily dismissed his
complaint without prejudice.
The complaints generally allege, among other things, that the defendants violated federal securities laws and regulations by disseminating or allowing to be
disseminated a proxy statement in connection with the Acquisition that purportedly omits or misrepresents material information. The complaints seek, among
other things, relief enjoining the defendants from proceeding with the Acquisition and any vote on the Acquisition; or, in the event the Acquisition is
completed, rescinding the Acquisition and setting it aside or awarding rescissory damages. The Company believes that the plaintiffs’ allegations are without
merit and intends to vigorously defend against them. It is possible that additional lawsuits related to the Acquisition may be filed in the future.
From time to time, the Company may be a party to litigation or subject to claims incident to the ordinary course of business. Although the results of litigation
and claims cannot be predicted with certainty, the Company currently believes that the final outcome of these ordinary course matters will not have a
material adverse effect on its business. Regardless of the outcome, litigation can have an adverse impact on the Company because of defense and settlement
costs, diversion of management resources and other factors. The Company did not have contingency reserves established for any liabilities as of March 31,
2019 and December 31, 2018.
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Indemnification
In the normal course of business, the Company enters into contracts and agreements that contain a variety of representations and warranties and provide for
general indemnification. The Company’s exposure under these agreements is unknown because it involves claims that may be made against the Company in
the future. To date, the Company has not paid any claims or been required to defend any action related to its indemnification obligations. However, the
Company may record charges in the future as a result of these indemnification obligations.
In accordance with its Articles of Association and individual indemnification agreements, the Company has indemnification obligations to its officers and
directors for certain events or occurrences, subject to certain limits, while they are serving at the Company’s request in such capacity. There have been no
claims to date, and the Company has director and officer insurance that may enable it to recover a portion of any amounts paid for future potential claims.
12. Recently issued accounting pronouncements
Recently issued accounting pronouncements not yet adopted
In August 2018, the Financial Accounting Standard Board (“FASB”) issued Accounting Standards Updates (“ASU”) 2018-13, Fair Value Measurement
(Topic 820): Disclosure Framework – Changes to the Disclosure Requirements for Fair Value Measurement (“ASU 2018-13”), reducing certain disclosures
concerning the fair value hierarchy. The guidance is effective for the Company in annual periods beginning after December 15, 2019, and interim periods
within those annual periods. The Company does not expect the adoption of this guidance to have a material impact on the Company’s condensed
consolidated financial statements.
In June 2016, the FASB issued ASU 2016-13, Financial Instruments Credit Losses (Topic 326) (“ASU 2016-13”), which requires consideration of a broader
range of reasonable and supportable information to developing credit loss estimates. The guidance is effective for the fiscal year beginning January 1, 2020,
including interim periods within that fiscal year. The Company does not expect the adoption of this guidance to have a material impact on the Company’s
condensed consolidated financial statements.
The Company has considered other recent accounting pronouncements and concluded that they are either not applicable to the business, or that the effect is
not expected to be material to the condensed consolidated consolidated financial statements as a result of future adoption.
Recently adopted accounting pronouncements
In June 2018, the FASB issued ASU 2018-07, Compensation—Stock Compensation (Topic 718) - Improvements to Nonemployee Share-Based Payment
Accounting that largely aligns the accounting for share-based payment awards issued to employees and nonemployees, with certain exceptions. The standard
became effective for the Company beginning January 1, 2019. Adoption of this standard did not have a material impact on the Company’s condensed
consolidated financial statements.
In July 2018, the FASB issued ASU 2018-09 (“ASU 2018-09”), Codification Improvements. The ASU 2018-09 provides updates and clarifications to a
number of previously issued accountings standards and such updates and clarifications are effective concurrently with the related standards. As of January 1,
2019, the Company adopted these clarifications consistent with the guidance in the ASU; the various updates and clarifications to previously issued
accounting standards become effective for the Company concurrently with the adoption of the related standards. Adoption of this standard did not have a
material impact on the Company’s condensed consolidated financial statements.
In February 2016, the FASB issued ASU 2016-02 (“ASU 2016-02”), Leases, that requires a lessee to recognize a lease liability and a right-of-use (“ROU”)
asset for all leases with lease terms of more than 12 months and requires disclosure of key information about leasing arrangements. Leases are classified as
either finance or operating, with classification affecting the pattern of expense recognition in the income statement. The classification criteria for
distinguishing between operating and finance (previously capital) leases are substantially similar to the previous lease guidance.
ASU 2016-02 became effective for the Company as of January 1, 2019. The Company elected the modified retrospective approach with transition methods
that allowed it to prospectively apply the standard as of the adoption date. The Company also elected the package of practical expedients permitted under
the transition guidance that allowed the Company to carryforward the historical operating lease classifications of its existing agreements. The new guidance
also provided practical expedients for the entity’s accounting. The Company made an accounting policy election to keep leases with an initial term of 12
months or less off of the balance sheet and recognize those lease payments in the consolidated statements of operations on a straight-line basis over the lease
term. The Company also elected the practical expedient to not separate lease and non-lease components for all of its leases as the non-lease components are
not significant to the overall lease costs.
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The adoption of this guidance on January 1, 2019 did not materially affect the Company’s condensed consolidated balance sheets, results of operations, cash
flow or liquidity. The adoption resulted in recognition as of January 1, 2019 of an ROU asset and lease liabilities of $1.0 million on its consolidated balance
sheets, and no impact on its condensed consolidated results of operations or condensed consolidated statements of equity. ROU assets are included in Other
assets and the corresponding lease obligations are included in Accrued expenses and other liabilities and Long-term lease obligations on the condensed
consolidated consolidated balance sheet. The impact of adopting ASU 2016-02 on the Consolidated Balance Sheet is as follows (in thousands):
January 1, 2019
Prior to ASU
2016-02
Adoption

Prepaid expense and other current assets
Other assets
Accrued expenses and other liabilities
Accrued expenses and other liabilities
Long term lease obligations
(1)
(2)
(3)
(4)

$
$
$

6,605
409
11,360

$

—

ASU 2016-02
Adjustment

$
$
$
$
$

(65 )
984
(122 )
548
495

January 1, 2019
As Adjusted

(1)
(2)
(3)
(4)
(4)

$
$

6,540
1,393

$
$

11,786
495

Represents reclassification of prepaid rent to ROU assets, previously reported in Prepaid expense and other current assets.
Represents capitalization of ROU assets and reclassification of prepaid rent and deferred rent to operating lease assets, reported in Other assets.
Represents reclassification of deferred rent to ROU assets, previously reported in Accrued expenses and other liabilities.
Represents recognition of operating lease liabilities, reported in Accrued expenses and other liabilities.

13. Leases
On May 24, 2018, NightstaRx Limited (“NSL”), a subsidiary of Nightstar Therapeutics plc, entered into an agreement to receive the assignment of the lease
for its new office on Midford Place in London, United Kingdom. This office also serves as the corporate headquarters of the Company. The assignment of the
lease to NSL became effective on June 8, 2018 and the operating lease will expire on October 30, 2020. The rent is approximately £198,000 ($261,000) per
annum, payable quarterly. NSL provided the landlord with an upfront security deposit of approximately £119,000 ($157,000), including value added tax. As
part of this agreement, NSL also received a one-time rent concession payment from the landlord in the amount of £75,000 ($99,000) plus value added taxes.
NSL’s performance under the lease is guaranteed by Nightstar Therapeutics plc. With the adoption of ASU 2016-02, the Company recorded a ROU asset and
corresponding lease liability.
On April 6, 2018, Nightstar, Inc. (“NSI”), a subsidiary of Nightstar Therapeutics plc, entered into a sublease for its new corporate headquarters in Waltham,
Massachusetts. The sublease provides NSI with approximately 12,000 rentable square feet for general office use. The sublease became effective on April 26,
2018 and the operating lease will expire in March 2021. The initial rent for the office space is approximately $209,000 per annum, increasing every year by
approximately 6%. As part of the agreement, NSI arranged for a letter of credit for $58,000 as security for the sublease. With the adoption of ASU 2016-02,
the Company recorded a ROU asset and corresponding lease liability.
On January 10, 2017, NSL entered into a noncancelable sublease for a facility in Lexington, Massachusetts for its U.S. operations. The lease related to the
facility commenced on February 1, 2017 and is scheduled to terminate in June 2020. The lease is classified as an operating lease. The Company is committed
to making aggregate lease payments of $86,000 in 2018, $89,000 in 2019 and $46,000 in 2020. This Lexington office space is currently considered excess
and has been sublet to recover costs. With the adoption of ASU 2016-02, the Company recorded a ROU asset and corresponding lease liability.
The Company entered into noncancelable operating leases for certain equipment to be used in its clinical research in its U.S. operations. These lease
arrangements are not significant in comparison to the Company’s total operating lease assets and liabilities. The Company has identified no embedded lease
arrangements in its other contracts.
The Company identified and assessed the following estimates in recognizing the ROU asset and corresponding liability:
Expected lease term: The expected lease term for those leases commencing prior to January 1, 2019 did not change with the adoption of ASU 2016-02.
The expected lease term for leases commencing after the adoption of ASU 2016-02 includes noncancelable lease periods and, when applicable, periods
covered by an option to extend the lease if the Company is reasonably certain to exercise that option, as well as periods covered by an option to
terminate the lease if the Company is reasonably certain not to exercise that option. Some leases include an option to renew for a period of time, and the
exercise of lease renewal options is at the Company’s sole discretion. None of these options to renew are recognized as part of the Company’s ROU asset
or lease liability as of March 31, 2019, as renewal was determined to not be reasonably assured.
11

Incremental borrowing rate: As the discount rates in the Company’s lease are not implicit, the Company estimated the incremental borrowing rate based
on the rate of interest the Company would have to pay to borrow a similar amount on a collateralized basis over a similar term.
The following table summarizes the lease assets and liabilities at the date shown (in thousands):
March 31, 2019

ROU assets, included in Other assets
Total ROU assets
Current operating lease labilities, included in Accrued expenses and
other current liabilities
Long term lease obligations
Total lease liabilities

$
$

863
863

$
$
$

624
351
975

The aggregate operating lease expense of $0.1 million for the three months ended March 31, 2019 are included in research and development and general and
administrative expenses. These operating lease costs include short-term leases, which is immaterial.
The following table summarizes the maturity of undiscounted payments due under lease liabilities and the present value of those liabilities at the date shown:
(in thousands):
March 31, 2019

2019
2020
2021
Total
Present value adjustment
Present value of lease liabilities

$

508
450
58
1,016
(41 )
975

$

The following table summarizes the lease term and discount rate at the date shown:
March 31, 2019

Weighted average remaining lease term (years)
Weighted average discount rate

1.7
5.0 %

The following table summarized the cash paid for amounts included in the measurement of lease liabilities for the period shown (in thousands):
Three months ended
March 31, 2019

Cash paid for amounts included in the measurement of lease liabilities
Operating cash flows from operating leases

$
$

81
81

14. Subsequent events
On May 8, 2019, the requisite number of the Company’s shareholders voted to approve the Implementation Agreement with Biogen Switzerland Holdings
GmbH and Tungsten Bidco Limited. Pursuant to the terms of the Implementation Agreement, the acquisition will be implemented by means of a scheme of
arrangement to be undertaken by the Company under Part 26 of the UK Companies Act 2006. The acquisition remains subject to a sanction at a court
hearing by the High Court of Justice in England and Wales, which is anticipated to take place on or about June 5, 2019, and the delivery of a copy of the
court order to the Registrar of Companies. The acquisition is expected to be consummated on or about June 7, 2019, subject to timely receipt of all required
approvals and satisfaction of the requirements of the Implementation Agreement.
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Item 2. Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations.
The following discussion and analysis of our financial condition and results of operations should be read together with our unaudited financial statements
and the notes to those financial statements appearing elsewhere in this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q and the audited consolidated financial statements
and notes thereto and management’s discussion and analysis of financial condition and results of operations for the year ended December 31, 2018
included in our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2018.
This discussion contains forward-looking statements that involve significant risks and uncertainties. As a result of many factors, such as those set forth in
Item 1.A. “Risk Factors” of our Annual Report on Form 10-K and any updates to those risk factors contained in our subsequent periodic and current reports
filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission, or SEC, our actual results may differ materially from those anticipated in these forward-looking
statements.
Our forward-looking statements do not assume the consummation of the proposed acquisition of our company by Biogen unless specifically stated
otherwise.
Overview
We are a leading clinical-stage gene therapy company focused on developing and commercializing novel one-time treatments for patients suffering from rare
inherited retinal diseases that would otherwise progress to blindness. Leveraging our expertise in ophthalmology, gene therapy and drug development, we are
developing a pipeline of proprietary product candidates that are designed to substantially modify or halt the progression of inherited retinal diseases for
which there are no currently approved treatments. Our lead product candidate, NSR-REP1, for the treatment of choroideremia is in Phase 3 clinical
development and represents the most clinically advanced product candidate for this indication worldwide. In data from 32 patients treated with NSR-REP1
across four open-label clinical trials, over 90% of treated patients maintained their visual acuity over a two-year follow-up period. In some cases, we also
observed substantial improvements in visual acuity. We are also conducting a Phase 2/3 clinical trial with our second product candidate, NSR-RPGR, for the
treatment of X-linked retinitis pigmentosa, or XLRP. We also have product candidates in preclinical development for a number of inherited retinal diseases
for which there are no approved treatments such as Stargardt disease.
Since our inception in May 2013, we have devoted substantially all our resources to conducting preclinical studies and clinical trials, organizing and staffing
our company, business planning, raising capital and establishing our intellectual property portfolio. We do not have any products approved for sale and have
not generated any revenue from product sales. We have funded our operations to date primarily with proceeds from the sale of our American Depositary
Shares, or ADSs, and ordinary shares. Through March 31, 2019, we had received net cash proceeds of $255.2 million from sales of our ADSs and ordinary
shares.
We continue to incur significant operating losses. For the three months ended March 31, 2019 and 2018, our losses were $16.4 million and $14.4 million,
respectively. As of March 31, 2019, we had an accumulated deficit of $115.2 million.
We expect to continue to incur significant expenses for the foreseeable future as we advance our product candidates through preclinical and clinical
development, seek regulatory approval and pursue commercialization of any approved product candidates. In addition, if we obtain marketing approval for
any of our product candidates, we expect to incur significant commercialization expenses related to product manufacturing, marketing, sales and distribution.
As of March 31, 2019, we held cash, cash equivalents and marketable securities of $153.5 million that we believe are adequate to meet our obligations over
at least the twelve months following the issuance of this report.
On March 4, 2019, we entered into an implementation agreement, or the Implementation Agreement, with Biogen Switzerland Holdings GmbH and its
wholly-owned subsidiary, Tungsten Bidco Limited, which we collectively refer to as Biogen. Pursuant to the terms of the Implementation Agreement, Biogen
has agreed to acquire the entire issued and to be issued share capital of our company for $25.50 in cash per ordinary share, nominal value of GBP 0.01 per
share, or the Company Shares, excluding any treasury shares, any Company Shares held by Biogen or its subsidiaries, and certain pre-initial public offering
equity awards deferred upon the termination of the holder’s employment, which we refer to as the Deferred Shares. Under the terms of the Implementation
Agreement, the proposed acquisition is contemplated to be implemented by means of a scheme of arrangement to be undertaken by us under Part 26 of the
UK Companies Act 2006. On May 8, 2019, our shareholders voted to approve all proposals relating to the scheme of arrangement for the acquisition of our
company by Biogen. The acquisition remains subject to a sanction at a court hearing by the High Court of Justice in England and Wales, which is anticipated
to take place on or about June 5, 2019, and the delivery of a copy of the court order to the Registrar of Companies. The acquisition is expected to be
consummated on or about June 7, 2019, subject to timely receipt of all required approvals and satisfaction of the requirements of the Implementation
Agreement. If the transaction is completed, we expect that the ADSs will be removed from listing on the Nasdaq Stock Market and that registration of the
ADSs under Section 12(b) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, will be terminated.
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Components of Our Results of Operations
Revenues
To date, we have not generated any revenue from product sales and do not expect to generate any revenue from the sale of products in the near future. If our
development efforts for our product candidates are successful and result in regulatory approval, we may generate revenue in the future from product sales.
Operating Expenses
Research and Development Expenses
Research and development expenses consist primarily of costs incurred in connection with the research and development of our product candidates, which
are partially offset by research and development tax credits provided by Her Majesty's Revenue & Customs, or HMRC, and other government grants. We
expense research and development costs as incurred. These expenses consist of:
▪

expenses incurred under agreements with contract research organizations, or CROs, contract manufacturing organizations, or CMOs, as well as
investigative sites and consultants that conduct our clinical trials, preclinical studies and other scientific development services;

▪

manufacturing scale-up expenses and the cost of acquiring and manufacturing preclinical studies and clinical trial materials;

▪

employee-related expenses, including salaries, related benefits, travel and share-based compensation expense for employees engaged in
research and development functions;

▪

costs related to compliance with regulatory requirements;

▪

facilities costs, depreciation and other expenses, which include rent and utilities; and

▪

fees for maintaining our third-party licensing agreements.

We recognize external development costs based on an evaluation of the progress to completion of specific tasks using information provided to us by our
service providers.
Our direct research and development expenses are tracked on a program-by-program basis for our product candidates and consist primarily of external costs,
such as fees paid to outside consultants, CROs and CMOs in connection with our preclinical development, manufacturing and clinical development
activities. Our direct research and development expenses by program also include fees incurred under our license agreements. We do not allocate employee
costs or facility expenses, including depreciation or other indirect costs, to specific programs because these costs are deployed across multiple programs and,
as such, are not separately classified. We use internal resources primarily to oversee the research and discovery as well as to manage our preclinical
development, process development, manufacturing and clinical development activities. These employees work across multiple programs and, therefore, we
do not track their costs by program.
The table below summarizes our research and development expenses incurred by program:
For the three months ended March 31,
2019
2018
(in thousands)

Direct research and development expense by program:
NSR-REP1
NSR-RPGR
Other
Total direct research and development expense
Personnel-related expense (including share-based
compensation)
Research and development tax credit
Indirect research and development expense
Total research and development expense

$

$

14

4,045
1,920
426
6,391

$

3,232
(1,923 )
1,198
8,898 $

3,437
1,608
51
5,096
2,073
(1,382 )
277
6,064

Research and development activities are central to our business model. Product candidates in later stages of clinical development generally have higher
development costs than those in earlier stages of clinical development, primarily due to the increased size and duration of later-stage clinical trials and
related product manufacturing expenses. As a result, we expect that our research and development expenses will continue to increase over the next several
years as we increase personnel costs and prepare for regulatory filings related to our product candidates. We also expect to incur additional expenses related
to milestone, royalty payments and maintenance fees payable to third parties with whom we have entered into license agreements to acquire the rights related
to our product candidates.
The successful development and commercialization of our product candidates is highly uncertain. At this time, we cannot reasonably estimate or know the
nature, timing and costs of the efforts that will be necessary to complete the preclinical and clinical development of any of our product candidates or when, if
ever, material net cash inflows may commence from any of our product candidates. This uncertainty is due to the numerous risks and uncertainties associated
with development and commercialization, including the uncertainty of:
▪

the scope, progress, outcome and costs of our preclinical development activities, clinical trials and other research and development activities;

▪

establishing an appropriate safety profile with investigational new drug application- and clinical trial application-enabling studies;

▪

successful patient enrollment in, and the initiation and completion of, clinical trials;

▪

the timing, receipt and terms of any marketing approvals from applicable regulatory authorities and reimbursement and market access from
third-party payors;

▪

establishing commercial manufacturing capabilities or making arrangements with third-party manufacturers;

▪

development and timely delivery of commercial-grade drug formulations that can be used in our clinical trials and for commercial launch;

▪

obtaining, maintaining, defending and enforcing patent claims and other intellectual property rights;

▪

significant and changing government regulation;

▪

launching commercial sales of our product candidates, if and when approved, whether alone or in collaboration with others; and

▪

maintaining a continued acceptable safety profile of the product candidates following approval.

We may never succeed in achieving regulatory approval for any of our product candidates. We may obtain unexpected results from our clinical trials. We
may elect to discontinue, delay or modify clinical trials of some product candidates or focus on others. Any changes in the outcome of any of these variables
with respect to the development of our product candidates in preclinical and clinical development could mean a significant change in the costs and timing
associated with the development of these product candidates. For example, if the FDA, EMA or another regulatory authority were to delay our planned start
of clinical trials or require us to conduct clinical trials or other testing beyond those that we currently expect, or if we experience significant delays in
enrollment in any of our planned clinical trials, we could be required to expend significant additional financial resources and time on the completion of
clinical development of that product candidate.
General and Administrative Expenses
General and administrative expenses consist primarily of salaries, related benefits, travel and share-based compensation expense for personnel in executive,
finance and administrative functions. These expenses include professional fees for legal, consulting, accounting and audit services, insurance costs, and
investor and public relations expenses associated with being a public company. We anticipate that our general and administrative expenses will increase in
the future as we increase our headcount to support our continued research activities and development of our product candidates.
We anticipate that our general and administrative expenses will increase in the future as we increase our headcount to support our continued development
and commercialization of our product candidates. We also anticipate we will continue to incur increased accounting, audit, legal, regulatory, compliance,
director and officer insurance costs as well as investor and public relations expenses associated with being a public company and a domestic filer. In light of
the pending acquisition of our company by Biogen, we also anticipate incurring additional legal, accounting and other advisory fees in relation to the
transaction.
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Other Income (Expense)
Interest and Other Income
Interest income consists of interest on cash, cash equivalents and marketable securities. Other income includes funds received from government grants.
Foreign Currency Translation
Foreign currency exchange gains and losses are driven primarily by balances of cash, cash equivalents and marketable securities, as well as accounts payable,
denominated in a currency other than our functional currency, the U.S. dollar, which we adopted as our functional currency on January 1, 2019. A significant
majority of our cash, cash equivalents and marketable securities are denominated in U.S. dollars. Prior to January 1, 2019, our functional currency was the
pound sterling. Accordingly, a substantial portion of foreign currency transaction gains and losses in prior periods related to the exchange rate changes
between the U.S. dollar and pound sterling on the U.S. dollar denominated funds held by us.
Our adoption of the U.S. dollar as our functional currency resulted in a significant reduction in foreign currency transaction gains and losses in 2019, when
compared to prior periods. Our foreign currency exchange transaction gain was $0.1 million for the three months ended March 31, 2019, compared to a
foreign currency transaction exchange loss of $5.9 million in the three months ended March 31, 2018. Foreign exchange transaction gains and losses are
included in other income (expense), net in the condensed consolidated statement of operations and comprehensive loss for the respective periods.
Our reporting currency has been and continues to be the U.S. dollar. Translation adjustments are not included in the determination of net loss; they are
included as foreign currency translation adjustments in accumulated other comprehensive income (loss), a component of shareholders’ equity. With the
adoption of the U.S. dollar as our functional currency, the cumulative foreign currency translation adjustment of $4.9 million as of January 1, 2019 will be
retained as a part of shareholders’ equity. We recorded a foreign currency translation adjustment gain of $6.3 million for three months ended March 31, 2018
and none for the three months ended March 31, 2019.
Comparison of the three months ended March 31, 2019 and 2018
The following table summarizes our results of operations for the three months ended March 31, 2019 and 2018:
Three months ended March 31,
2019
2018
(in thousands)

Operating expenses:
Research and development
General and administrative
Total operating expenses
Other income (expense):
Interest and other income
Other income (expense), net
Total other income (expense), net
Loss before provision for income taxes
Provision for income taxes
Net loss
Other comprehensive income (loss):
Foreign currency translation adjustment
Unrealized holding gains on available for sale securities
Total comprehensive loss

$

8,898
9,663
18,561

$

1,107
1,101
2,208
(16,353 )
39
(16,392 )

$

16

—
(1,258 )
(17,650 ) $

6,064
2,776
8,840

Change

$

367
(5,885 )
(5,518 )
(14,358 )
—
(14,358 )
6,346
—
(8,012 ) $

2,834
6,887
9,721
740
6,986
7,726
(1,995 )
39
(2,034 )
(6,346 )
(1,258 )
(9,638 )

Research and Development Expenses
Research and development expenses were $8.9 million for the three months ended March 31, 2019, compared to $6.1 million for the three months ended
March 31, 2018. The increase of $2.8 million resulted primarily from increases in program-related expenses of $0.6 million for NSR-REP1, and $0.3 million
for NSR-RPGR, as well as a $1.2 million increase in personnel-related costs. This increase was off-set in part by an increase in research and development tax
relief claims from HMRC of $0.5 million. Research and development personnel-related costs reflected additional headcount in the three months ended
March 31, 2019, when compared to the same period in 2018, to support our growth and to assist in the further development of our product candidates and
pipeline. The increase in research and development personnel-related costs for the three months ended March 31, 2019 includes $0.3 million of additional
non-cash share-based compensation when compared to the same period in 2018.
General and Administrative Expenses
General and administrative expenses were $9.7 million for the three months ended March 31, 2019, compared to $2.8 million for the three months ended
March 31, 2018. The increase of $6.9 million is mainly due to $5.8 million in fees associated with the pending acquisition by Biogen and $0.5 million in
professional and consulting fees, including increased legal, accounting and audit fees for the three months ended March 31, 2019 when compared to the same
period in 2018. General and administrative expenses also reflect additional headcount to support our increased research and development activities and our
status as a public company. The increase in general and administrative personnel-related costs includes $0.6 million of additional non-cash share-based
compensation for the three months ended March 31, 2019 as compared to the same period in 2018.
Other Income (Expense), Net
Other income was $2.2 million for the three months ended March 31, 2019, compared to other loss of $5.5 million for the same period in 2018. The increase
of $7.7 million mainly consisted of an increase in non-cash gain on foreign currency exchange of $5.9 million compared to the same period in 2018 due to
the strengthening of the pound sterling and euro compared to the U.S. dollar, our reporting and functional currency. We adopted the U.S. dollar as our
functional currency as of January 1, 2019, and we do not anticipate significant foreign currency transaction gains and losses in future periods. The increase
in the non-cash loss was partially offset by an increase of $0.5 million in interest and other income and $0.2 million in grant income for the three months
ended March 31, 2019 when compared to the same period in 2018.
Provision for income taxes
The provision for income taxes results from the recognition of earnings on our available-for-sale investments in U.S. Treasury securities, which increased due
to the investment of proceeds received from our public offerings in 2017 and 2018. For the three months ended March 31, 2019, we recognized income tax
expense of $39,000 and net tax impact to other comprehensive loss of $0.2 million. There was no income tax provision for the three months ended March 31,
2018. The Company has not recorded any amounts for unrecognized tax benefits as of March 31, 2019 and December 31, 2018.
Liquidity and Capital Resources
Since our inception, we have not generated any revenue and have incurred operating losses and negative cash flows from our operations. We have funded our
operations to date primarily with proceeds from the sale of ADSs and ordinary shares. Through March 31, 2019, we had received net cash proceeds of
$255.2 million from sales of our ADSs and ordinary shares. As of March 31, 2018, we held cash, cash equivalents and marketable securities of $153.5 million.
Cash Flows
The following table summarizes our cash flows for the three months ended:
March 31,
2019

2018
(in thousands)

Net cash used in operating activities
Net cash provided by (used in) investing activities
Net cash provided by financing activities
Effect of exchange rate changes on cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash
Net increase (decrease) in cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash
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$

$

(11,362 )
77,986
—
105
66,729

$

$

(8,922 )
(43 )
—
1,838
(7,127 )

Net Cash Used in Operating Activities
Our use of cash in operating activities for the three months ended March 31, 2019 resulted primarily from our net losses, adjusted for non-cash charges and
changes in components of working capital. Net cash used in operating activities of $11.4 million during the three months ended March 31, 2019 increased by
$2.4 million compared to the same period in 2018. The increase in net cash used in operating activities was primarily due to increases of $2.8 million in
research and development expenses, increases of $6.9 million in general and administrative expense, increases in non-cash share-based compensation
expense, improvements in foreign currency transaction expenses of $5.9 million, earnings on investments, and working capital movement.
Net Cash Used in Investing Activities
For the three months ended March 31, 2019, net cash provided by investing activities increased due to the investment in marketable securities of the funds
raised in our public offerings in October 2018 and October 2017. For the three months ended March 31, 2019 and 2018, we also used $14,000 and $43,000
in cash for the purchases of property and equipment, respectively.
Net Cash Provided by Financing Activities
During the three months ended March 31, 2019 and 2018, there was no net cash provided by financing activities.
Contractual Obligations
Our contractual obligations as of March 31, 2019, relate to our non-cancellable leased office space in the United States and the United Kingdom and was $1.0
million. As of January 1, 2019, we adopted new accounting guidance on leases that requires the discounted value of these leasing obligations of $1.0 million
to be recognized on our balance sheet. Upon adoption of the new lease guidance we recorded the lease obligation and right-of-use asset. At the date of
adoption, the new lease guidance had no impact on our operations, cash flow or shareholders’ equity.
We enter into contracts in the normal course of business with CROs and other third vendors for clinical trials, clinical and commercial supply manufacturing,
support for precommercial activities, research and development activities and other services and products for our operations. Our agreements generally
provide for termination within 90 days of notice.
We may incur potential contingent payments upon our achievement of clinical, regulatory and commercial milestones, as applicable, or that we may be
required to make royalty payments under license agreements we have entered into with various entities pursuant to which we have in-licensed certain
intellectual property, including our license agreements with the University of Oxford and Oxford BioMedica plc.
Funding Requirements
We expect our expenses to increase substantially in connection with our ongoing activities as a public company, particularly as we advance the preclinical
activities, manufacturing and clinical trials of our product candidates. Our expenses will also increase as we:
▪

seek regulatory approvals for any product candidates that successfully complete clinical trials;

▪

establish a sales, marketing and distribution infrastructure in anticipation of commercializing any product candidates for which we may obtain
marketing approval and intend to commercialize on our own or jointly;

▪

hire additional clinical, medical and development personnel;

▪

expand our infrastructure and facilities to accommodate our growing employee base;

▪

continue our operations as a public company; and

▪

maintain, expand and protect our intellectual property portfolio.

We believe our existing cash, cash equivalents and marketable securities of $153.5 million at March 31, 2019, will enable us to fund our operating expenses
and capital expenditure requirements for at least the next 12 months from the filing date of this quarterly report. We have based these estimates on
assumptions that may prove to be wrong, and we could utilize our available capital resources sooner than we expect. As we progress with our development
programs and the regulatory review process, we expect to incur significant commercialization expenses related to product manufacturing, pre-commercial
activities and commercialization. In light of the pending acquisition of our company by Biogen, we also anticipate incurring additional legal, accounting
and other advisory fees in relation to the transaction.
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Because of the numerous risks and uncertainties associated with research, development and commercialization of pharmaceutical product candidates, we are
unable to estimate the exact amount of our working capital requirements. Our future funding requirements will depend on and could increase significantly as
a result of many factors, including:
▪

the scope, progress, results and costs of laboratory testing, manufacturing, and preclinical and clinical development for our current and future
product candidates;

▪

the costs, timing and outcome of regulatory review of our product candidates;

▪

our ability to establish and maintain collaborations and license agreements on favorable terms, if at all;

▪

the costs of expanding our facilities to accommodate our expected growth in personnel;

▪

the extent to which we acquire or in-license other product candidates and technologies or establish collaboration, distribution or other
marketing arrangements for our product candidates;

▪

the costs, timing and outcome of potential future commercialization activities, including manufacturing, marketing, sales and distribution for
our product candidates for which we receive marketing approval;

▪

the costs of preparing, filing and prosecuting patent applications, maintaining and enforcing our intellectual property rights and defending
intellectual property-related claims;

▪

the extent to which we acquire technologies;

▪

the sales price and availability of adequate third-party coverage and reimbursement for our product candidates, if and when approved; and

▪

the costs of operating as a public company in the United States.

Until such time, if ever, that we can generate product revenue sufficient to achieve profitability, we expect to finance our cash needs through equity offerings,
debt financings, government or other third-party funding, marketing and distribution arrangements and other collaborations, strategic alliances and licensing
arrangements. To the extent that we raise additional capital through the sale of equity, current ownership interests will be diluted. If we raise additional funds
through government or third-party funding, collaboration agreements, strategic alliances, licensing arrangements or marketing and distribution arrangements,
we may have to relinquish valuable rights to our technologies, future revenue streams, research programs or product candidates or grant licenses on terms that
may not be favorable to us. Debt financing, if available, may involve agreements that include covenants limiting or restricting our ability to take specific
actions, such as incurring additional debt, making capital expenditures or declaring dividends. If we are unable to raise additional funds when needed, we
may be required to delay, limit, reduce or terminate our product development or future commercialization efforts or grant rights to develop and market
products or product candidates that we would otherwise prefer to develop and market ourselves.
Critical Accounting Policies
The preparation of consolidated financial statements in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America requires
management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities, disclosures of contingent assets and liabilities at the
date of the consolidated financial statements, and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the reported periods. The Securities and Exchange
Commission, or the SEC, has defined a company’s critical accounting policies as the ones that are most important to the portrayal of a company’s financial
condition and results of operations, and which require a company to make its most difficult and subjective judgments.
For a more complete understanding of our accounting policies, the unaudited consolidated financial statements, and the related Management’s Discussion
and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations, readers are encouraged to consider this information together with our discussion of our
critical accounting policies under the heading “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations” in our Annual
Report for the year ended December 31, 2018 filed with the SEC on our Form 10-K.
Recently Issued Accounting Pronouncements
See Notes 2 and 11 to the unaudited consolidated financial statements for information regarding the recently issued accounting standards, including those
that were adopted as of January 1, 2019 and those that have yet to be adopted.
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Emerging Growth Company and Smaller Reporting Company Status
As an emerging growth company, and as a smaller reporting company, we intend to rely on certain of the exemptions and reduced reporting requirements that
are provided by the SEC for companies that meet the requirements of being an “emerging growth company,” as defined in the Jumpstart Our Business
Startups Act, and a “smaller reporting company,” as defined in Rule 12b-2 promulgated under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, or the
Exchange Act, as applicable.
Item 3. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk.
There have been no material changes in our market risk during the three months ended March 31, 2019, compared to the disclosures in Part II, Item 7A of our
Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2018.
Item 4. Controls and Procedures.
Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures
Our management, with the participation of our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer (our principal executive officer and principal financial
officer, respectively), has evaluated the effectiveness of our disclosure controls and procedures as of March 31, 2019. The term “disclosure controls and
procedures,” as defined in Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e) promulgated under the Exchange Act, means controls and other procedures of a company that are
designed to ensure that information required to be disclosed by a company in the reports that it files or submits under the Exchange Act is recorded,
processed, summarized and reported, within the time periods specified in the Securities and Exchange Commission’s rules and forms. Disclosure controls and
procedures include, without limitation, controls and procedures designed to ensure that information required to be disclosed by a company in the reports that
it files or submits under the Exchange Act is accumulated and communicated to the company’s management, including its principal executive and principal
financial officers, as appropriate to allow timely decisions regarding required disclosure. Management recognizes that any controls and procedures, no matter
how well designed and operated, can provide only reasonable assurance of achieving their objectives and management necessarily applies its judgment in
evaluating the cost-benefit relationship of possible controls and procedures. Based on the evaluation of our disclosure controls and procedures as of March
31, 2019, our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer concluded that, as of such date, our disclosure controls and procedures were effective at the
reasonable assurance level.
Changes in Internal Control Over Financial Reporting.
There has been no change in our internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f) under the Exchange Act) that occurred
during the first quarter of 2019 that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, our internal control over financial reporting.
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PART II Other Information
Item 1. Legal Proceedings.
From time to time, we may be a party to litigation or subject to claims incident to the ordinary course of business. Although the results of litigation and
claims cannot be predicted with certainty, we currently believe that the final outcome of these ordinary course matters will not have a material adverse effect
on our business. Regardless of the outcome, litigation can have an adverse impact on us because of defense and settlement costs, diversion of management
resources and other factors.
Three shareholder complaints have been filed in connection with the pending acquisition of our company by an affiliate of Biogen Inc, or the Acquisition.
On April 23, 2019, Stephen Bushansky, a purported holder of our ADSs, filed a complaint in the United States District Court for the District of Massachusetts,
captioned Stephen Bushansky v. Nightstar Therapeutics plc et al., Civil Action No. 1:19-cv-10903, against us and each member of our board of directors. On
April 26, 2019, Earl Wheby, a purported shareholder, filed a putative federal securities class action complaint in the United States District Court for the
District of Delaware, captioned Earl M. Wheby, Jr. v. Nightstar Therapeutics plc et al., Case No. 1:19-cv-00761-UNA, against us, each member of our board
and Biogen Inc. Also on April 26, 2019, Brennan Evans, a purported shareholder, filed a complaint in the United States District Court for the Southern
District of New York, captioned Brennan Evans v. Nightstar Therapeutics plc et al., Case No. 1:19-cv-03743, against us and each member of our board of
directors. On May 1, 2019, the plaintiff in Wheby voluntarily dismissed his complaint without prejudice.
The complaints generally allege, among other things, that we and the other defendants violated federal securities laws and regulations by disseminating or
allowing to be disseminated a proxy statement in connection with the Acquisition that purportedly omits or misrepresents material information with respect
to the Acquisition. The complaints seek, among other things, relief enjoining the defendants from proceeding with the Acquisition and any shareholder vote
on the Acquisition; or, in the event the Acquisition is completed, rescinding the Acquisition and setting it aside or awarding rescissory damages. We believe
that the plaintiffs’ allegations are without merit and intend to vigorously defend against them. It is possible that additional lawsuits related to the Acquisition
may be filed in the future.
Item 1A. Risk Factors.
There have been no material changes to our risk factors contained in our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the period ended December 31, 2018 and any
updates to those risk factors contained in our subsequent periodic and current reports filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission. For a further
discussion of our Risk Factors, refer to the “Risk Factors” discussion contained in such filings.
Item 2 Unregistered Sales of Equity Securities and Use of Proceeds
Use of Proceeds from Registered Securities. On October 2, 2017, we closed our initial public offering, or IPO, of an aggregate of 6,164,000 ADSs, including
804,000 ADSs issued and sold to the underwriters upon their exercise in full of their option to purchase additional ADSs, at a public offering price of $14.00
per ADS. Each ADS represented one ordinary share. The offer and sale of all of the ADSs in the IPO were registered under the Securities Act of 1933, as
amended, or the Securities Act, pursuant to a registration statement on Form F-1 (File No. 333-220289), which was declared effective by the SEC on
September 27, 2017. Jefferies LLC, Leerink Partners LLC and BMO Capital Markets Corp. acted as joint book-running managers for the offering. Wedbush
Securities Inc. and Chardan acted as co-managers.
We received aggregate net proceeds from our IPO of approximately $77.4 million, after deducting underwriting discounts and commissions and other
offering expenses payable by us. None of the underwriting discounts and commissions or other offering expenses were incurred or paid to directors or officers
of ours or their associates or to persons owning 10% or more of our common stock or to any affiliates of ours.
There has been no material change in our planned use of the net proceeds from the IPO as described in our final prospectus filed with the SEC pursuant to
Rule 424(b) under the Securities Act. As of March 31, 2019, $76.3 million of the net proceeds is included as cash, cash equivalents and marketable securities.
Item 3 Defaults Upon Senior Securities
None.
Item 4. Mine Safety Disclosures.
Not applicable.
21

Item 5. Other Information.
On March 4, 2019, we entered into an implementation agreement, or the Implementation Agreement, with Biogen Switzerland Holdings GmbH and its
wholly-owned subsidiary, Tungsten Bidco Limited, which we collectively refer to as Biogen. Pursuant to the terms of the Implementation Agreement, Biogen
has agreed to acquire the entire issued and to be issued share capital of our company for $25.50 in cash per ordinary share, nominal value of GBP 0.01 per
share, or the Company Shares, excluding any treasury shares, any Company Shares held by Biogen or its subsidiaries, and certain pre-initial public offering
equity awards deferred upon the termination of the holder’s employment, which we refer to as the Deferred Shares. Under the terms of the Implementation
Agreement, the proposed acquisition is contemplated to be implemented by means of a scheme of arrangement to be undertaken by us under Part 26 of the
UK Companies Act 2006.
On May 8, 2019, our shareholders voted to approve all proposals relating to the scheme of arrangement for the acquisition of our company by Biogen. The
acquisition remains subject to a sanction at a court hearing by the High Court of Justice in England and Wales, which is anticipated to take place on or about
June 5, 2019, and the delivery of a copy of the court order to the Registrar of Companies. The acquisition is expected to be consummated on or about June 7,
2019, subject to timely receipt of all required approvals and satisfaction of the requirements of the Implementation Agreement. If the transaction is
completed, we expect that the ADSs will be removed from listing on the Nasdaq Stock Market and that registration of the ADSs under Section 12(b) of the
Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, will be terminated.
Item 6. Exhibits.
EXHIBIT INDEX
INCORPORATED BY REFERENCE
EXHIBIT
NUMBER

2.1†

DESCRIPTION OF EXHIBIT

Implementation Agreement, dated as of March 4, 2019,
by and among Biogen Switzerland Holdings GmbH,
Tungsten Bidco Limited and Nightstar Therapeutics plc.

SCHEDULE/
FORM

FILE
NUMBER

EXHIBIT

FILE DATE

Form 8-K

001-38217

2.1

3/4/19

FILED
HEREWITH

3.1

Articles of Association of Nightstar Therapeutics plc, as
amended

X

31.1

Certification of principal executive officer pursuant to
Rule 13a-14(a) or 15d-14(a) of the Securities Exchange
Act of 1934, as adopted pursuant to Section 302 of the
Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.

X

31.2

Certification of principal financial officer pursuant to
Rule 13a-14(a) or 15d-14(a) of the Securities Exchange
Act of 1934, as adopted pursuant to Section 302 of the
Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.

X

32.1*

Certification of principal executive officer pursuant to
18 U.S.C. §1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of
the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.

X

32.2*

Certification of principal financial officer pursuant to 18
U.S.C. §1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the
Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.

X

101.INS

XBRL Instance Document.

X

101.SCH

XBRL Taxonomy Extension Schema Document.

X

101.CAL

XBRL Taxonomy Extension Calculation Linkbase
Document.

X
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101.DEF

XBRL Taxonomy Extension Definition Linkbase
Document.

X

101.LAB

XBRL Taxonomy Extension Label Linkbase Document.

X

101.PRE

XBRL Taxonomy Extension Presentation Linkbase
Document.

X

*
†

Furnished herewith.
Certain schedules have been omitted pursuant to Item 601(b)(2) of Regulation S-K. We hereby undertake to furnish supplemental copies of any of the
omitted schedules upon request by the Securities and Exchange Commission; provided, however, that we may request confidential treatment pursuant
to Rule 24b-2 of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, for any schedules so furnished.
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SIGNATURES
Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant has duly caused this report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned
thereunto duly authorized.

Nightstar Therapeutics plc

Date: May 9, 2019

By:

/s/ David Fellows
David Fellows
Chief Executive Officer
(Principal Executive Officer)

Date: May 9, 2019

By:

/s/ Senthil Sundaram
Senthil Sundaram
Chief Financial Officer
(Principal Financial and Accounting Officer)
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THE COMPANIES ACT 2006
PUBLIC COMPANY LIMITED BY SHARES
ARTICLES OF ASSOCIATION
OF
NIGHTSTAR THERAPEUTICS PLC
(Adopted by special resolution on 28 September 2017, and amended on 8 May 2019)
1.

Exclusion of Model Articles (and any Other Prescribed Regulations)

No regulations or articles set out in any statute, or in any statutory instrument or other subordinate legislation made under any statute,
concerning companies (including the regulations in the Companies (Model Articles) Regulations 2008 (SI 2008/3229)) shall apply as
the articles of the Company. The following shall be the articles of association of the Company.
2.
2.1

Interpretation
in these articles, unless the context otherwise requires:
Act: Companies Act 2006.

address: includes any number or address used for the purposes of sending or receiving documents or information by
electronic means.
Articles: these articles of association as altered from time to time and Article shall be construed accordingly.
Board: the board of Directors for the time being of the Company or the Directors present or deemed to be present at a duly
convened quorate meeting of the Directors.
certificated shares: a share which is not an uncertificated share and references in these Articles to a share being held in
certificated form shall be construed accordingly.
clear days: in relation to a period of notice means that period excluding the day when the notice is served or deemed to be
served and the day for which it is given or on which it is to take effect.
Companies Acts: the Act, the Companies Act 1985 and, where the context requires, every other statute from time to time in
force concerning companies and affecting the Company.
Company: Nightstar Therapeutics plc, company number 10852952.
Deferred Shares: has the meaning given to it in article 4.
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Director: a director for the time being of the Company.
electronic form: has the meaning given to it in section 1168 of the Act.
electronic means: has the meaning given to it in section 1168 of the Act.
FSMA: Financial Services and Markets Act 2000.
member: a member of the Company, or where the context requires, a member of the Board or of any committee.
NASDAQ: means The NASDAQ Stock Market LLC.
NASDAQ Rules: means the rules of NASDAQ.
office: the registered office from time to time of the Company.
Operator: Euroclear UK and Ireland Limited or such other person as may for the time being be approved by HM Treasury
as Operator under the uncertificated securities rules.
paid up: paid up or credited as paid up.
participating class: a class of shares title to which is permitted by the Operator to be transferred by means of a relevant
system.
Register: the register of members of the Company to be maintained under the Act or as the case may be any overseas branch
register maintained under Article 103.
relevant system: a computer-based system which allows units of securities without written instruments to be transferred and
endorsed pursuant to the uncertificated securities rules.
Share Warrant: a warrant to bearer issued by the Company in respect of its shares.
Seal: the common seal of the Company or, where the context allows, any official seal kept by the Company under section 50
of the Act.
uncertificated securities rules: any provision of the Companies Acts relating to the holding, evidencing of title to, or
transfer of uncertificated shares and any legislation, rules or other arrangements made under or by virtue of such provision (including
the Uncertificated Securities Regulations 2001 as amended or replaced from time to time and any subordinate legislation or rules made
under them for them time being in force).
uncertificated share: a share of a class which is at the relevant time a participating class, title to which is recorded on the
Register as being held in uncertificated form and references in these Articles to a share being held in uncertificated form shall be
construed accordingly.
2.2

Headings are used for convenience only and shall not affect the construction or interpretation of these Articles.
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2.3

A person includes a corporate and an unincorporated body (whether or not having separate legal personality).

2.4

Words in the singular shall include the plural and vice versa.

2.5

A reference to one gender shall include a reference to the other gender.

2.6

A reference to a statute or statutory provision is a reference to it as it is in force for the time being, taking account of any
amendment, extension, or re-enactment and includes any subordinate legislation for the time being in force made under it.

2.7

Any words or expressions defined in the Companies Acts in force when these Articles or any part of these Articles are
adopted shall (if not inconsistent with the subject or context in which they appear) have the same meaning in these Articles
or that part, save that the word company shall include any body corporate.

2.8

A reference to a document being signed or to signature includes references to its being executed under hand or under seal
or by any other method and, in the case of a communication in electronic form, such references are to its being authenticated
as specified by the Companies Acts.

2.9

A reference to writing or written includes references to any method of representing or reproducing words in a legible and
non-transitory form whether sent or supplied in electronic form or otherwise.

2.10

A reference to documents or information being sent or supplied by or to a company (including the Company) shall be
construed in accordance with section 1148(3) of the Act.

2.11

A reference to a meeting shall not be taken as requiring more than one person to be present if any quorum requirement can
be satisfied by one person.

2.12

If any Articles (or part thereof) is or becomes inconsistent with any laws or regulations of any country to which affairs of the
Company are subject such laws or regulations shall prevail and the relevant Articles (or part thereof) shall be construed
accordingly.

3.

Form of Resolution

Subject to the Companies Acts, where anything can be done by passing an ordinary resolution, this can also be done by passing a
special resolution.
4.

Capital

The capital of the Company is divided into an unlimited number of shares of £0.01 pence each (“Shares”) and an unlimited number of
deferred shares of £0.01 pence each (“Deferred Shares”) conferring on the holders the rights and being subject to the restrictions set
out in this Article 4.
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5.

Limited Liability

The liability of the members of the Company is limited to the amount, if any, unpaid on the shares in the Company held by them.
6.

Change of Name

The Company may change its name by resolution of the Board.
7.

Power to Attach Rights to Shares

Subject to the Companies Acts and to any rights attached to existing shares, any share may be issued with or have attached to it such
rights and restrictions as the Company may by ordinary resolution determine, or if no ordinary resolution has been passed or so far as
the resolution does not make specific provision, as the Board may determine.
8.

Allotment of Shares and Pre-Emption

8.1

Subject to the Companies Acts, these Articles and to any relevant authority of the Company in general meeting required by
the Act, the Board may offer, allot (with or without conferring rights of renunciation), grant options over or otherwise deal
with or dispose of shares or grant rights to subscribe for or convert any security into shares to such persons, at such times and
upon such terms as the Board may decide. No share may be issued at a discount.

8.2

The Board may, at any time after the allotment of any share but before any person has been entered in the Register,
recognise a renunciation by the allottee in favour of some other person and accord to the allottee of a share a right to effect
such renunciation and/or allow the rights to be represented to be one or more participating securities, in each case upon the
subject to such terms and conditions as the Board may think fit to impose.

8.3

Under and in accordance with section 551 of the Act, the Directors shall be generally and unconditionally authorised to
exercise for each prescribed period all the powers of the Company to allot shares up to an aggregate nominal amount equal
to the Section 551 Amount (as defined below).

8.4

Under and within the terms of the said authority or otherwise in accordance with section 570 of the Act, the Directors shall
be empowered during each prescribed period to allot equity securities (as defined by the Act) wholly for cash:

8.5

(a)

in connection with a rights issue; and

(b)

otherwise than in connection with a rights issue up to an aggregate nominal amount equal to the Section 561
Amount (as defined below).

During each prescribed period the Company and its Directors by such authority and power may make offers or agreements
which would or might require equity securities or other securities to be allotted after the expiry of such period.
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8.6

9.

For the purposes of this Article 8:
(a)

rights issue means an offer of equity securities (as defined by the Act) open for acceptance for a period fixed by
the Board to holders of equity securities on the Register on a fixed record date in proportion to their respective
holdings of such securities or in accordance with the rights attached to them but subject to such exclusions or other
arrangements as the Board may deem necessary or expedient with regard to treasury shares, fractional entitlements
or legal or practical problems under the laws of any territory or under the requirements of any recognised
regulatory body or stock exchange in any territory;

(b)

prescribed period means any period (not exceeding five years on any occasion) for which the authority, in the
case of Article 8.3, is conferred or renewed by ordinary or special resolution stating the Section 551 Amount and
in the case of Article 8.4 is conferred or renewed by special resolution stating the Section 561 Amount;

(c)

Section 551 Amount means for any prescribed period, the amount stated in the relevant ordinary or special
resolution;

(d)

Section 561 Amount means for any prescribed period, the amount stated in the relevant special resolution; and

(e)

the nominal amount of any securities shall be taken to be, in the case of rights to subscribe for or to convert any
securities into shares of the Company, the nominal amount of such shares which may be allotted pursuant to such
rights.

Redeemable Shares

Subject to the Companies Acts and to any rights attaching to existing shares, any share may be issued which can be redeemed or is
liable to be redeemed at the option of the Company or the holder. The Board may determine the terms, conditions and manner of
redemption of any redeemable shares which are issued. Such terms and conditions shall apply to the relevant shares as if the same were
set out in these Articles.
10.

Deferred Shares

The Deferred Shares shall confer on the holders the following rights and the holders shall be subject to the following restrictions:(a)

as to dividends – the holders of the Deferred Shares shall have no right to receive dividends or other distributions

(b)

as to voting – the holders of Deferred Shares shall not be entitled to receive notice of, or to attend or to vote at, any
general meeting of the Company;
-5-

(c)

11.

as to capital – on a return of assets on liquidation or otherwise the holders of the Deferred Shares shall be entitled
to the amount paid up thereon but only after the holders of the Shares have received the aggregate amount paid up
thereon and in addition, have received £1,000,000 per Share. The holders of the Deferred Shares shall not be
entitled to share or participate further in a return of assets.

Pari Passu Issues

If new shares are created or issued which rank equally with any other existing shares, the rights of the existing shares will not be
regarded as changed or abrogated unless the terms of the existing shares expressly say otherwise.
12.

Variation of Rights

12.1

Subject to the Companies Acts, the rights attached to any class of shares can be varied or abrogated either with the consent
in writing of the holders of not less than three-quarters in nominal value of the issued share of that class (excluding any
shares of that class held as treasury shares) or with the authority of a special resolution passed at a separate meeting of the
holders of the relevant class of shares known as a class meeting.

12.2

The provisions of this Article will apply to any variation or abrogation of rights of shares forming part of a class. Each part
of the class which is being treated differently is treated as a separate class in applying this Article.

12.3

All the provisions in these Articles as to general meetings shall apply, with any necessary modifications, to every class
meeting except that:
(a)

the quorum at every such meeting shall not be less than two persons holding or representing by proxy at least onethird of the nominal amount paid up on the issued shares of the class) (excluding any shares of that class held as
treasury shares); and

(b)

if at any adjourned meeting of such holders such quorum as set out above is not present, at least one person
holding shares of the class who is present in person or by proxy shall be a quorum.

12.4

The Board may convene a class meeting whenever it thinks fit and whether or not the business to be transacted involves a
variation or abrogation of class rights.

13.

Payment of Commission

The Company may in connection with the issue of any shares or the sale for cash of treasury shares exercise all powers of paying
commission and brokerage conferred or permitted by the Companies Acts. Any such commission or brokerage may be satisfied by the
payment of cash or by the allotment of fully or partly paid shares or other securities or the grant of an option to call for an allotment of
shares or any combination of such methods.
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14.

Trusts Not Recognised

Except as otherwise expressly provided by these Articles, required by law or as ordered by a court of competent jurisdiction, the
Company shall not recognise any person as holding any share on any trust, and the Company shall not be bound by or required in any
way to recognise (even when having notice of it) any equitable, contingent, future, partial or other claim to or interest in any share
other than an absolute right of the holder of the whole of the share.
15.

Uncertificated Shares

15.1

Under and subject to the uncertificated securities rules, the Board may permit title to shares of any class to be evidenced
otherwise than by certificate and title to shares of such a class to be transferred by means of a relevant system and may make
arrangements for a class of shares (if all shares of that class are in all respects identical) to become a participating class. Title
to shares of a particular class may only be evidenced otherwise than by a certificate where that class of shares is at the
relevant time a participating class. The Board may also, subject to compliance with the uncertificated securities rules,
determine at any time that title to any class of shares may from a date specified by the Board no longer be evidenced
otherwise than by a certificate or that title to such a class shall cease to be transferred by means of any particular relevant
system.

15.2

in relation to a class of shares which is a participating class and for so long as it remains a participating class, no provision of
these Articles shall apply or have effect to the extent that it is inconsistent in any respect with:
(a)

the holding of shares of that class in uncertificated form;

(b)

the transfer of title to shares of that class by means of a relevant system; or

(c)

any provision of the uncertificated securities rules;

and, without prejudice to the generality of this Article, no provision of these Articles shall apply or have effect to the extent that it is in
any respect inconsistent with the maintenance, keeping or entering up by the Operator, so long as that is permitted or required by the
uncertificated securities rules, of an Operator register of securities in respect of that class of shares in uncertificated form.
15.3

Shares of a class which is at the relevant time a participating class may be changed from uncertificated to certificated form,
and from certificated to uncertificated form, in accordance with and subject as provided in the uncertificated securities rules.

15.4

If, under these Articles or the Companies Acts, the Company is entitled to sell, transfer or otherwise dispose of, forfeit, reallot, accept the surrender of or otherwise enforce a lien over an uncertificated share, then, subject to these Articles and the
Companies Acts, such entitlement shall include the right of the Board to:
(a)

require the holder of the uncertificated share by notice in writing to change that share from uncertificated to
certificated form within such period as may be specified in the notice and keep it as a certificated share for as long
as the Board requires;
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(b)

appoint any person to take such other steps, by instruction given by means of a relevant system or otherwise, in
the name of the holder of such share as may be required to effect the transfer of such share and such steps shall be
as effective as if they had been taken by the registered holder of that share; and

(c)

take such other action that the Board considers appropriate to achieve the sale, transfer, disposal, forfeiture, reallotment or surrender of that share or otherwise to enforce a lien in respect of that share.

15.5

Unless the Board determines otherwise, shares which a member holds in uncertificated form shall be treated as separate
holdings from any shares which that member holds in certificated form but a class of shares shall not be treated as two
classes simply because some shares of that class are held in certificated form and others in uncertificated form.

15.6

Unless the Board determines otherwise or the uncertificated securities rules require otherwise, any shares issued or created
out of or in respect of any uncertificated shares shall be uncertificated shares and any shares issued or created out of or in
respect of any certificated shares shall be certificated shares.

15.7

The Company shall be entitled to assume that the entries on any record of securities maintained by it in accordance with the
uncertificated securities rules and regularly reconciled with the relevant Operator register of securities are a complete and
accurate reproduction of the particulars entered in the Operator register of securities and shall accordingly not be liable in
respect of any act or thing done or omitted to be done by or on behalf of the Company in reliance on such assumption. Any
provision of these Articles which requires or envisages that action will be taken in reliance on information contained in the
Register shall be construed to permit that action to be taken in reliance on information contained in any relevant record of
securities (as so maintained and reconciled).

16.

Share Certificates

16.1

Every person (except a person to whom the Company is not by law required to issue a certificate) whose name is entered in
the Register as a holder of any certificated shares shall be entitled, without charge, to receive within the time limits prescribed
by the Companies Acts (unless the terms of issue prescribe otherwise) one certificate for all of the shares of that class
registered in his name.

16.2

The Company shall not be bound to issue more than one certificate in respect of shares held jointly by two or more persons.
Delivery of a certificate to the person first named in the Register shall be sufficient delivery to all joint holders.

16.3

Where a member has transferred part only of the shares comprised in a certificate, he shall be entitled without charge to a
certificate for the balance of such shares to the extent that the balance is to be held in certificated form. Where a member
receives more shares of any class, he shall be entitled without charge to a certificate for the extra shares of that class to the
extent that the balance is to be held in certificated form.
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16.4

A share certificate may be issued under Seal (by affixing the Seal to or printing the Seal or a representation of it on the
certificate) or signed by at least two Directors or by at least one Director and the Secretary. Such certificate shall specify the
number and class of the shares in respect of which it is issued and the amount or respective amounts paid up on it. The
Board may be resolution decide, either generally or in any particular case or cases, that any signatures on any share
certificates need not be autographic but may be applied to the certificates by some mechanical or other means or may be
printed on them or that the certificates need not be signed by any person.

16.5

Every share certificate sent in accordance with these Articles will be sent at the risk of the member or other person entitled to
the certificate. The Company will not be responsible for any share certificate lost or delayed in the course of delivery.

16.6

No share certificate shall be issued in respect of the Deferred Shares.

17.

Replacement Certificates

17.1

Any two or more certificates representing shares of any one class held by any member may at his request be cancelled and a
single new certificate for such shares issued in lieu without charge on surrender of the original certificates for cancellation.

17.2

Any certificate representing shares of any one class held by any member may at his request be cancelled and two or more
certificates for such shares may be issued instead.

17.3

If a share certificate is defaced, worn out or said to be stolen, lost or destroyed, it may be replaced on such terms as to
evidence and indemnity as the Board may decide and, where it is defaced or worn out, after delivery of the old certificate to
the Company.

17.4

The Board may require the payment of any exceptional out-of-pocket expenses of the Company incurred in connection with
the issue of any certificates under this Article. in the case of shares held jointly by several persons, any such request as is
mentioned in this Article may be made by any one of the joint holders.

18.

Lien on Shares Not Fully Paid

The Company shall have a first and paramount lien on every share, not being a fully paid share, for all amounts payable to the
Company (whether presently or not) in respect of that share. The Company’s lien over a share takes priority over any third party’s
interest in that share, and extends to any dividend or other money payable by the Company in respect of that share (and, if the lien is
enforced and the share is sold by the Company, the proceeds of sale of that share). The Board may at any time, either generally or in
any particular case, waive any lien that has arisen or declare any share to be wholly or in part exempt from the provisions of this
Article.
19.

Enforcement of Lien by Sale

The Company may sell, in such manner as the Board may decide, any share over which the Company has a lien if a sum in respect of
which the lien exists is presently payable and is not paid within 14 clear days after a notice has been served on the holder of the share
or the person
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who is entitled by transmission to the share, demanding payment and stating that if the notice is not complied with the share may be
sold. For giving effect to the sale, in the case of a certificated share, the Board may authorise some person to sign an instrument of
transfer of the share sold to, or in accordance with the directions, of the buyer. in the case of an uncertificated share, the Board may
require the Operator to convert the share into certificated form and after such conversion, authorise any person to sign the instrument of
transfer of the share to effect the sale of the share. The buyer shall not be bound to see to the application of the purchase money, nor
shall his title to the share be affected by any irregularity or invalidity in the proceedings in reference to the sale.
20.

Application of Proceeds of Sale

The net proceeds of any sale of shares subject to any lien, after payment of the costs, shall be applied:
(a)

first, in or towards satisfaction of so much of the amount due to the Company or of the liability or engagement (as
the case may be) as is presently payable or is liable to be presently fulfilled or discharged; and

(b)

second, any residue shall be paid to the person who was entitled to the share at the time of the sale but only after
the certificate for the shares sold has been surrendered to the company for cancellation, or an indemnity in a form
reasonably satisfactory to the directors has been given for any lost certificates, and subject to a like lien for debts or
liabilities not presently payable as existed on the share prior to the sale.

21.

Calls

21.1

Subject to these Articles and the terms on which the shares are allotted, the Board may from time to time make calls on the
members in respect of any monies unpaid on their shares (whether in respect of nominal value or premium) and not payable
on a date fixed by or in accordance with the terms of issue.

21.2

Each member shall (subject to the Company serving upon him at least 14 clear days’ notice specifying when and where
payment is to be made and whether or not by instalments) pay to the Company as required by the notice the amount called
on for his shares.

21.3

A call shall be deemed to have been made at the time when the resolution of the Board authorising the call was passed.

21.4

A call may be revoked or postponed, in whole or in part, as the Board may decide.

21.5

Liability to pay a call is not extinguished or transferred by transferring the shares in respect of which the call is required to be
paid.
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22.

Liability of Joint Holders

The joint holders of a share shall be jointly and severally liable to pay all calls in respect of the share.
23.

Interest on Calls

If a call remains unpaid after it has become due and payable, the person from whom it is due and payable shall pay all expenses that
have been incurred by the Company by reason of such non-payment together with interest on the amount unpaid from the day it is due
and payable to the time of actual payment at such rate (not exceeding the Bank of England base rate by more than five percentage
points) as the Board may decide. The Board may waive payment of the interest or the expenses in whole or in part.
24.

Power to Differentiate

on or before the issue of shares, the Board may decide that allottees or holders of shares can be called on to pay different amounts or
that they can be called on at different times.
25.

Payment of Calls in Advance

The Board may, if it thinks fit, receive from any member willing to advance the same, all or any part of the monies uncalled and unpaid
on the shares held by him. Such payment in advance of calls shall, to the extent of the payment, extinguish the liability on the shares on
which it is made. The Company may pay interest on the money paid in advance, or so much of it as exceeds the amount for the time
being called upon the shares in respect of which such advance has been made, at such rate as the Board may decide. The Board may at
any time repay the amount so advanced by giving at least three months’ notice in writing to such member of its intention to do so,
unless before the expiration of such notice the amount so advanced shall have been called up on the shares in respect of which it was
advanced.
26.

Notice if Call or Instalment Not Paid

If any member fails to pay the whole of any call (or any instalment of any call) by the date when payment is due, the Board may at any
time give notice in writing to such member (or to any person entitled to the shares by transmission), requiring payment of the amount
unpaid (and any accrued interest and any expenses incurred by the Company by reason of such non-payment) by a date not less than
14 clear days from the date of the notice. The notice shall name the place where the payment is to be made and state that, if the notice
is not complied with, the shares in respect of which such call was made will be liable to be forfeited.
27.

Forfeiture for Non-Compliance

If the notice referred to in Article 26 is not complied with, any share for which it was given may be forfeited, by resolution of the
Board to that effect, at any time before the payment required by the notice has been made. Such forfeiture shall include all dividends
declared or other monies payable in respect of the forfeited shares and not paid before the forfeiture.
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28.

Notice After Forfeiture

When any share has been forfeited, notice of the forfeiture shall be served on the holder of the share or the person entitled to such share
by transmission (as the case may be) before forfeiture. An entry of such notice having been given and of the forfeiture and the date of
forfeiture shall immediately be made in the Register in respect of such share. However, no forfeiture shall be invalidated by any
omission to give such notice or to make such entry in the Register.
29.

Forfeiture May Be Annulled

The Board may annul the forfeiture of a share, at any time before any forfeited share has been cancelled or sold, re-allotted or
otherwise disposed of, on the terms that payment shall be made of all calls and interest due on it and all expenses incurred in respect of
the share and on such further terms (if any) as the Board shall see fit.
30.

Surrender

The Board may accept the surrender of any share liable to be forfeited and, in any event, references in these Articles to forfeiture shall
include surrender.
31.

Sale of Forfeited Shares

31.1

A forfeited share shall become the property of the Company.

31.2

Subject to the Companies Acts, any such share may be sold, re-allotted or otherwise disposed of, on such terms and in such
manner as the Board thinks fit.

31.3

The Board may, for the purposes of the disposal, authorise some person to transfer the share in question and may enter the
name of the transferee in respect of the transferred share in the Register even if no share certificate is lodged and may issue a
new certificate to the transferee. An instrument of transfer executed by that person shall be as effective as if it had been
executed by the holder of, or the person entitled by transmission to, the share. The Company may receive the consideration
(if any) given for the share on its disposal.

32.

Effect of Forfeiture

A member whose shares have been forfeited shall cease to be a member in respect of such forfeited shares and shall surrender the
certificate for such shares to the Company for cancellation. Such member shall remain liable to pay to the Company all sums which at
the date of forfeiture were presently payable by him to the Company in respect of such shares with interest (not exceeding the Bank of
England base rate by 2 percentage points) from the date of the forfeiture to the date of payment. The Directors may waive payment of
interest wholly or in part and may enforce payment, without any reduction or allowance for the value of the shares at the time of
forfeiture or for any consideration received on their disposal.
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33.

Evidence of Forfeiture

A statutory declaration by a Director or the Secretary that a share has been forfeited on a specified date shall be conclusive evidence of
the facts stated in it as against all persons claiming to be entitled to the share. The declaration shall (subject to the execution of an
instrument of transfer if necessary) constitute a good title to the share. The person to whom the share is transferred or sold shall not be
bound to see to the application of the purchase money or other consideration (if any), nor shall his title to the share be affected by any
act, omission or irregularity relating to or connected with the proceedings in reference to the forfeiture or disposal of the share.
34.

Form of Transfer

34.1

Subject to these Articles:
(a)

each member may transfer all or any of his shares which are in certificated form by instrument of transfer in
writing in any usual form or in any form approved by the Board. Such instrument shall be executed by or on
behalf of the transferor and (in the case of a transfer of a share which is not fully paid up) by or on behalf of the
transferee. All instruments of transfer, when registered, may be retained by the Company.

(b)

each member may transfer all or any of his shares which are in uncertificated form by means of a relevant system
in such manner provided for, and subject as provided in, the uncertificated securities rules. No provision of these
Articles shall apply in respect of an uncertificated share to the extent that it requires or contemplates the effecting
of a transfer by an instrument in writing or the production of a certificate for the share to be transferred.

34.2

The transferor of a share shall be deemed to remain the holder of the share concerned until the name of the transferee is
entered in the Register in respect of it.

35.

Right to Refuse Registration of Transfer

35.1

The Board may, in its absolute discretion, refuse to register any transfer of a share in certificated form (or renunciation of a
renounceable letter of allotment) unless:
(a)

it is for a share which is fully paid up;

(b)

it is for a share upon which the Company has no lien;

(c)

it is only for one class of share;

(d)

it is in favour of a single transferee or no more than four joint transferees;

(e)

it is duly stamped or is duly certificated or otherwise shown to the satisfaction of the Board to be exempt from
stamp duty (if this is required); and
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(f)

it is delivered for registration to the office (or such other place as the Board may determine), accompanied (except
in the case of a transfer by a person to whom the Company is not required by law to issue a certificate and to
whom a certificate has not been issued or in the case of a renunciation) by the certificate for the shares to which it
relates and such other evidence as the Board may reasonably require to prove the title of the transferor (or person
renouncing) and the due execution of the transfer or renunciation by him or, if the transfer or renunciation is
executed by some other person on his behalf, the authority of that person to do so.

35.2

The Board shall not refuse to register any transfer or renunciation of partly paid shares which are admitted to, or for which
certificated or uncertificated depositary instruments over such shares are admitted to, NASDAQ on the grounds that they are
partly paid shares in circumstances where such refusal would prevent dealings in such shares from taking place on an open
and proper basis.

35.3

Transfers of shares will not be registered in the circumstances referred to in Article 72.

35.4

The Board may refuse to register a transfer of uncertificated shares in any circumstances that are allowed or required by the
uncertificated securities rules and the relevant system.

36.

Notice of Refusal to Register a Transfer

If the Board refuses to register a transfer of a share it shall notify the transferee of the refusal and the reasons for it within two months
after the date on which the transfer was lodged with the Company or the instructions to the relevant system received. Any instrument
of transfer which the Board refuses to register shall be returned to the person depositing it (except if there is suspected or actual fraud).
All instruments of transfer which are registered may be retained by the Company.
37.

No Fees on Registration

No fee shall be charged for registration of a transfer or other document or instruction relating to or affecting the title to any share or for
making any other entry in the Register.
38.

Other Powers in Relation to Transfers

Nothing in these Articles shall prevent the Board:
(a)

from recognising a renunciation of the allotment of any share by the allottee in favour of another person; or

(b)

(if empowered to do so by these Articles) from authorising any person to execute an instrument of transfer of a
share and from authorising any person to transfer that share in accordance with any procedures implemented under
Article 19.
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39.

Transmission of Shares on Death

If a member dies, the survivors or survivor (where he was a joint holder), and his executors or administrators (where he was a sole or
the only survivor of joint holders), shall be the only persons recognised by the Company as having any title to his shares. Nothing in
these Articles shall release the estate of a deceased member from any liability for any share which has been solely or jointly held by
him.
40.

Election of Person Entitled by Transmission

40.1

Any person becoming entitled to a share because of the death or bankruptcy of a member, or otherwise by operation of law,
may (on such evidence as to his title being produced as the Board may require) elect either to become registered as a member
or to have some person nominated by him registered as a member. If he elects to become registered himself, he shall notify
the Company to that effect. If he elects to have some other person registered, he shall execute an instrument of transfer of
such share to that person. All the provisions of these Articles relating to the transfer of shares shall apply to the notice or
instrument of transfer (as the case may be) as if it were an instrument of transfer executed by the member and his death,
bankruptcy or other event had not occurred. Where the entitlement of a person to a share because of the death or bankruptcy
of a member or otherwise by operation of law is proved to the satisfaction of the Board, the Board shall within 30 days after
proof cause the entitlement of that person to be noted in the Register.

40.2

A person entitled by transmission to a share in uncertificated form who elects to have some other person registered shall
either:

41.

(a)

procure that instructions are given by means of the relevant system to effect transfer of such uncertificated share to
that person; or

(b)

change the uncertificated share to certificated form and execute an instrument of transfer of that certificated share
to that person.

Rights on Transmission

Where a person becomes entitled to a share because of the death or bankruptcy of any member, or otherwise by operation of law, the
rights of the holder in relation to such share shall cease. However, the person so entitled may give a good discharge for any dividends
and other monies payable in respect of it and shall have the same rights to which he would be entitled if he were the holder of the
share, except that he shall not be entitled to receive notice of, or to attend or vote at, any meeting of the Company or an separate
meeting of the holders of any class of shares of the Company before he is registered as the holder of the share. The Board may at any
time give notice requiring any such person to elect either to be registered himself or to transfer the share. If the notice is not complied
with within 30 days, the Board may withhold payment of all dividends and the other monies payable in respect of such share until the
requirements of the notice have been complied with.
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42.

Destruction of Documents

42.1

The Company may destroy any:
(a)

instrument of transfer, after six years from the date on which it is registered;

(b)

dividend mandate or any variation or cancellation of a dividend mandate or any notification of change of name or
address, after two years from the date on which it is recorded;

(c)

share certificate, after one year from the date on which it is cancelled;

(d)

instrument of proxy which has been used for the purpose of a poll at any time after one year has elapsed from the
date of use;

(e)

instrument of proxy which has not been used for the purpose of a poll at any time after a period of one month has
elapsed from the end of the meeting to which the instrument of proxy relates;

(f)

Share Warrant (including coupons or tokens detailed from it) which has been cancelled at any time after seven
years from the date on which it was cancelled; or

(g)

other document for which any entry in the Register is made, after six years from the date on which an entry was
first made in the Register in respect of it,

provided that the Company may destroy any such type of document at a date earlier than that authorised by this Article if a copy of
such document is made and retained (whether electronically, by microfilm, by digital imaging or by other similar means) until the
expiration of the period applicable to the destruction of the original of such document.
42.2

42.3

It shall be conclusively presumed in favour of the Company that every:
(a)

entry in the Register purporting to have been made on the basis of a document so destroyed was duly and properly
made;

(b)

instrument of transfer so destroyed was duly registered;

(c)

share certificate so destroyed was duly cancelled; and

(d)

other document so destroyed had been properly dealt with under its terms and was valid and effective according to
the particulars in the records of the Company.

This Article shall only apply to the destruction of a document in good faith and without notice of any claim (regardless of the
parties to it) to which the document might be relevant. Nothing in this Article shall be construed as imposing any liability on
the Company in respect of the destruction of any such document other than as provided for in this Article which would not
attach to the Company in the absence of this Article. References in this Article to the destruction of any document include
references to the disposal of it in any manner.
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42.4

References in this Article to instruments of transfer shall include, in relation to uncertificated shares, instructions and/or
notifications made in accordance with the relevant system relating to the transfer of such shares.

43.

Sub-Division

Any resolution authorising the Company to sub-divide its shares or any of them may determine that, as between the shares resulting
from the sub-division, any of them may have any preference or advantage or be subject to any restriction as compared with the others.
44.

Fractions

If any shares are consolidated or consolidated and then divided, the Board has power to deal with any fractions of shares which result.
If the Board decides to sell any shares representing fractions, it can do so for the best price reasonably obtainable and distribute the net
proceeds of sale among members in proportion to their fractional entitlements. The Board can arrange for any shares representing
fractions to be entered in the Register as certificated shares if they consider that this makes it easier to sell them. The Board can sell
those shares to anyone, including the Company if the legislation allows, and may authorise any person to transfer or deliver the shares
to the buyer or in accordance with the buyer’s instructions. The buyer shall not be bound to see to the application of the purchase
money, nor shall his title to the share be affected by any irregularity or invalidity in the proceedings in reference to the sale.
45.

Annual General Meetings

An annual general meeting shall be held once a year, at such time (consistent with the terms of the Companies Acts) and place as may
be determined by the Board.
46.

Convening of General Meetings

All meetings other than annual general meetings shall be called general meetings. The Board may, whenever it thinks fit, and shall on
requisition in accordance with the Companies Acts, proceed to convene a general meeting.
47.

Notice of General Meetings

A general meeting shall be called by at least such minimum notice as is required or permitted by the Companies Acts. The period of
notice shall in either case be exclusive of the day on which it is served or deemed to be served and of the day on which the meeting is
to be held and shall be given to all members other than those who are not entitled to receive such notices from the Company. The
Company may give such notice by any means or combination of means permitted by the Companies Acts.
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48.

Contents of Notice of Meetings

48.1

Every notice calling a meeting shall specify the place, date and time of the meeting, and there shall appear with reasonable
prominence in every such notice a statement that a member entitled to attend and vote is entitled to a proxy or (if he has more
than one share) proxies to exercise all or any of his rights to attend, speak and vote and that a proxy need not be a member of
the Company. Such notice shall also include the address of the website on which the information required by the Act is
published, state the procedures with which members must comply in order to be able to attend and vote at the meeting
(including the date by which they must comply), provide details of any forms to be used for the appointment of a proxy and
state that a member has the right to ask questions at the meeting in accordance with the Act.

48.2

The notice shall specify the general nature of the business to be transacted at the meeting and shall set out the text of all
resolutions to be considered by the meeting and shall state in each case whether it is proposed as an ordinary resolution or as
a special resolution.

48.3

in the case of an annual general meeting, the notice shall also specify the meeting as such.

48.4

For the purposes of determining which persons are entitled to attend or vote at a meeting and how many votes a person may
cast, the Company may specify in the notice of meeting a time, not more than 48 hours before the time fixed for the meeting
(not taking into account non-working days) by which a person must be entered in the Register in order to have the right to
attend or vote at the meeting or appoint a proxy to do so.

49.

Omission to Give Notice and Non-Receipt of Notice

The accidental omission to give notice of any meeting or to send an instrument of proxy (where this is intended to be sent out with the
notice) to, or the non-receipt of either by, any person entitled to receive the same shall not invalidate the proceedings of that meeting.
50.

Postponement of General Meeting

If the Board considers that it is impracticable or unreasonable to hold a general meeting on the date or at the time or place stated in the
notice calling the meeting, it may postpone or move the meeting (or do both). The Board shall take reasonable steps to ensure that
notice of the date, time and place of the rearranged meeting is given to any member trying to attend the meeting at the original time and
place. Notice of the date, time and place of the rearranged meeting shall, if practicable, also be placed in at least two national
newspapers published in the United Kingdom. Notice of the business to be transacted at such rearranged meeting shall not be required.
If a meeting is rearranged in this way, appointments of proxy are valid if they are received as required by these Articles not less than 48
hours before the time appointed for holding the rearranged meeting and for the purpose of calculating this period, the Board can decide
in their absolute discretion, not to take account of any part of a day that is not a working day. The Board may also postpone or move
the rearranged meeting (or do both) under this Article.
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51.

Quorum at General Meeting

No business shall be transacted at any general meeting unless a quorum is present. If a quorum is not present a chairman of the meeting
can still be chosen and this will not be treated as part of the business of the meeting. Two members present in person or by proxy and
entitled to attend and to vote on the business to be transacted shall be a quorum.
52.

Procedure If Quorum Not Present

If a quorum is not present within fifteen minutes (or such longer interval as the chairman in his absolute discretion thinks fit) from the
time appointed for holding a general meeting, or if a quorum ceases to be present during a meeting, the meeting shall be dissolved if
convened on the requisition of members. in any other case, the meeting shall stand adjourned to another day, (not being less than ten
clear days after the date of the original meeting), and at such time and place as the chairman (or, in default, the Board) may determine.
If at such adjourned meeting a quorum is not present within fifteen minutes from the time appointed for holding the meeting, one
person entitled to vote on the business to be transacted, being a member or a proxy for a member or a duly authorised representative of
a corporation which is a member, shall be a quorum and any notice of an adjourned meeting shall state this.
53.

Chairman of General Meeting

The chairman of the Board shall preside at every general meeting of the Company. If there is no such chairman or if at any meeting he
shall not be present within five minutes after the time appointed for holding the meeting, or shall be unwilling to act as chairman, the
deputy chairman (if any) of the Board shall, if present and willing to act, preside at such meeting. If more than one deputy chairman is
present they shall agree amongst themselves who is to take the chair or, if they cannot agree, the deputy chairman who has been in
office as a director the longest shall take the chair. If no chairman or deputy chairman shall be so present and willing to act, the
Directors present shall choose one of their number to act or, if there be only one Director present, he shall be chairman if willing to act.
If there be no Director present and willing to act, the members present and entitled to vote shall choose one of their number to be
chairman of the meeting. Nothing in these Articles shall restrict or exclude any of the powers or rights of a chairman of a meeting
which are given by law.
54.

Entitlement to Attend and Speak

A Director (and any other person invited by the chairman to do so) may attend and speak at any general meeting and at any separate
meeting of the holders of any class of shares of the Company, whether or not he is a member.
55.

Adjournments

The chairman may, with the consent of a meeting at which a quorum is present, and shall, if so directed by the meeting, adjourn any
meeting from time to time (or indefinitely) and from place to place as the meeting shall determine. However, without prejudice to any
other power which he may have under these Articles or at common law, the chairman may, without the need for the
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consent of the meeting, interrupt or adjourn any meeting from time to time and from place to place or for an indefinite period if he is of
the opinion that it has become necessary to do so in order to secure the proper and orderly conduct of the meeting or to give all persons
entitled to do so a reasonable opportunity of attending, speaking and voting at the meeting or to ensure that the business of the meeting
is properly disposed of.
56.

Notice of Adjournment

If the meeting is adjourned indefinitely or for more than three months, notice of the adjourned meeting shall be given in the same
manner as in the case of the original meeting. Except as provided in these Articles, there is no need to give notice of the adjourned
meeting or of the business to be considered there.
57.

Business of Adjourned Meeting

No business shall be transacted at any adjourned meeting other than the business which might properly have been transacted at the
meeting from which the adjournment took place.
58.

Security Arrangements and Orderly Conduct

58.1

The Board may direct that any person wishing to attend any meeting should provide such evidence of identity and submit to
such searches or other security arrangements or restrictions as the Board shall consider appropriate in the circumstances and
shall be entitled in its absolute discretion to refuse entry to any meeting to any person who fails to provide such evidence of
identity or to submit to such searches or to otherwise comply with such security arrangements or restrictions.

58.2

The chairman shall take such action or give directions as he thinks fit to promote the orderly conduct of the business of the
meeting as laid down in the notice of the meeting and to ensure the security of the meeting and the safety of the people
attending the meeting. The chairman’s decision on matters of procedure or arising incidentally from the business of the
meeting shall be final as shall be his determination as to whether any matter is of such a nature.

59.

Overflow Meeting Rooms

59.1

The Board may, in accordance with this Article, make arrangements for members and proxies who are entitled to attend and
participate in a general meeting, but who cannot be seated in the main meeting room where the chairman will be, to attend
and take part in a general meeting in an overflow room or rooms. Any overflow room will have appropriate links to the main
room and will enable audio-visual communication between the meeting rooms throughout the meeting. The Board will
decide how to divide members and proxies between the main room and the overflow room. If an overflow room is used, the
meeting will be treated as being held and taking place in the main meeting room and the meeting will consist of all the
members and proxies who are attending both in the main meeting room and the overflow room.
- 20 -

59.2

Details of any arrangements for overflow rooms will be set out in the notice of the meeting but failure to do so will not
invalidate the meeting.

60.

Satellite Meeting Places

60.1

to facilitate the organisation and administration of any general meeting, the Board may decide that the meeting shall be held
at two or more locations.

60.2

For the purposes of these Articles, any general meeting of the Company taking place at two or more locations shall be
treated as taking place where the chairman of the meeting presides (the principal meeting place) and any other location
where that meeting takes place is referred in these Articles as a satellite meeting.

60.3

A member present in person or by proxy at a satellite meeting may be counted in the quorum and may exercise all rights that
they would have been able to exercise if they were present at the principal meeting place.

60.4

The Board may make and change from time to time such arrangements as they shall in their absolute discretion consider
appropriate to:
(a)

ensure that all members and proxies for members wishing to attend the meeting can do so;

(b)

ensure that all persons attending the meeting are able to participate in the business of the meeting and to see and
hear anyone else addressing the meeting;

(c)

ensure the safety of persons attending the meeting and the orderly conduct of the meeting; and

(d)

restrict the numbers of members and proxies at any one location to such number as can safely and conveniently be
accommodated there.

60.5

The entitlement of any member or proxy to attend a satellite meeting shall be subject to any such arrangements then in force
and stated by the notice of the meeting or adjourned meeting to apply to the meeting.

60.6

If there is a failure of communication equipment or any other failure in the arrangements for participation in the meeting at
more than one place, the chairman may adjourn the meeting in accordance with Article 55. Such adjournment will not affect
the validity of such meeting, or any business conducted at such meeting up to the point of adjournment, or any action taken
pursuant to such meeting.

60.7

A person (satellite chairman) appointed by the Board shall preside at each satellite meeting. Every satellite chairman shall
carry out all requests made of him by the chairman of the meeting, may take such action as he thinks necessary to maintain
the proper and orderly conduct of the satellite meeting and shall have all powers necessary or desirable for such purposes.
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61.

Amendment to Resolutions

61.1

If an amendment to any resolution under consideration is proposed but is ruled out of order by the chairman of the meeting
in good faith, any error in such ruling shall not invalidate the proceedings on the original resolution.

61.2

in the case of a resolution duly proposed as a special resolution, no amendment to it (other than an amendment to correct a
patent error) may in any event be considered or voted on. in the case of a resolution duly proposed as an ordinary resolution
no amendment to it (other than an amendment to correct a patent error) may be considered or voted on unless either at least
48 hours prior to the time appointed for holding the meeting or adjourned meeting at which such ordinary resolution is to be
proposed, notice in writing of the terms of the amendment and intention to move the same has been lodged at the office or
received in electronic form at the electronic address at which the Company has or is deemed to have agreed to receive it or
the chairman of the meeting in his absolute discretion decides that it may be considered or voted on.

62.

Members’ Resolutions

62.1

Members of the Company shall have the rights provided by the Companies Acts to have the Company circulate and give
notice of a resolution which may be properly moved, and is intended to be moved, at the Company’s next annual general
meeting.

62.2

Expenses of complying with these rights shall be borne in accordance with the Companies Acts.

63.

Method of Voting

63.1

at any general meeting a resolution put to a vote of the meeting shall be decided on a show of hands, unless (before or on the
declaration of the result of the show of hands) a poll is duly demanded. Subject to the Companies Acts, a poll may be
demanded by:

63.2

(a)

the chairman of the meeting; or

(b)

at least two members present in person (or by proxy) and entitled to vote at the meeting; or

(c)

a member or members present in person (or by proxy) representing at least one-tenth of the total voting rights of all
the members having the right to vote at the meeting; or

(d)

a member or members present in person (or by proxy) holding shares conferring a right to vote at the meeting,
being shares on which an aggregate sum has been paid up equal to at least one-tenth of the total sum paid up on all
the shares conferring that right.

The chairman of the meeting may also demand a poll before a resolution is put to the vote on a show of hands.
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63.3

at general meetings, resolutions shall be put to the vote by the chairman of the meeting and there shall be no requirement for
the resolution to be proposed or seconded by any person.

63.4

Unless a poll is duly demanded and the demand is not withdrawn, a declaration by the chairman of the meeting that a
resolution has on a show of hands been carried, or carried unanimously or by a particular majority, or lost, or not carried by a
particular majority, and an entry to that effect in the book containing the minutes of proceedings of the Company, shall be
conclusive evidence of the fact, without proof of the number or proportion of the votes recorded in favour of or against such
resolution.

64.

Objection to Error in Voting

No objection shall be raised to the qualification of any voter or to the counting of, or failure to count, any vote, except at the meeting or
adjourned meeting at which the vote objected to is given or tendered or at which the error occurs. Any objection or error shall be
referred to the chairman of the meeting and shall only vitiate the decision of the meeting on any resolution if the chairman decides that
the same is of sufficient magnitude to vitiate the resolution or may otherwise have affected the decision of the meeting. The decision of
the chairman of the meeting on such matters shall be final and conclusive.
65.

Procedure on a Poll

65.1

Any poll duly demanded on the election of a chairman or on any question of adjournment shall be taken immediately. A poll
duly demanded on any other matter shall be taken in such manner (including the use of ballot or voting papers or tickets) and
at such time and place, not more than 30 days from the date of the meeting or adjourned meeting at which the poll was
demanded, as the chairman shall direct. The chairman may appoint scrutineers who need not be members. It is not necessary
to give notice of a poll not taken immediately if the time and place at which it is to be taken are announced at the meeting at
which it is demanded. in any other case, at least seven clear days’ notice shall be given specifying the time, date and place at
the which the poll shall be taken. The result of the poll shall be deemed to be the resolution of the meeting at which the poll
was demanded.

65.2

The demand for a poll (other than on the election of a chairman or any question of adjournment) shall not prevent the
continuance of the meeting for the transaction of any business other than the question on which a poll has been demanded.

65.3

The demand for a poll may, before the poll is taken, be withdrawn, but only with the consent of the chairman of the meeting.
A demand so withdrawn validates the result of a show of hands declared before the demand was made. If a poll is demanded
before the declaration of the result of a show of hands and the demand is duly withdrawn, the meeting shall continue as if the
demand had not been made.

65.4

on a poll votes may be given in person or by proxy. A member entitled to more than one vote need not, if he votes, use all
his votes or cast all the votes he uses in the same way.
- 23 -

66.

Votes of Members

66.1

Subject to Article 66.2, the Companies Acts, to any special terms as to voting on which any shares may have been issued or
may for the time being be held and to any suspension or abrogation of voting rights under these Articles, at any general
meeting every member who is present in person (or by proxy) shall on a show of hands have one vote and every member
present in person (or by proxy) shall on a poll have one vote for each share of which he is the holder.

66.2

on a show of hands, a duly appointed proxy has one vote for and one vote against a resolution if the proxy has been
appointed by more than one member entitled to vote on the resolution and the proxy has been instructed:
(a)

by one or more of those members to vote for the resolution and by one or more other of those members to vote
against it; or

(b)

by one or more of those members to vote either for or against the resolution and by one or more other of those
members to use his/her discretion as to how to vote.

66.3

If two or more persons are joint holders of a share, then in voting on any question the vote of the senior who tenders a vote,
whether in person or by proxy, shall be accepted to the exclusion of the votes of the other joint holders. For this purpose
seniority shall be determined by the order in which the names of the holders stand in the Register.

66.4

Where in England or elsewhere a receiver or other person (by whatever name called) has been appointed by any court
claiming jurisdiction in that behalf to exercise powers with respect to the property or affairs of any member on the ground
(however formulated) of mental disorder, the Board may in its absolute discretion, upon or subject to production of such
evidence of the appointment as the Board may require, permit such receiver or other person on behalf of such member to
vote in person, on a show of hands or on a poll, by proxy on behalf of such member at any general meeting or to exercise
any other right conferred by membership in relation to meetings of the Company. Evidence to the satisfaction of the Board
of the authority of the person claiming to exercise the right to vote shall be deposited at the office, or at such other place as is
specified in accordance with these Articles for the deposit of instruments of proxy, at least 48 hours before the time
appointed for holding the meeting or adjourned meeting at which the right to vote is to be exercised and, in default, the right
to vote shall not be exercisable.

66.5

in the case of equality of votes whether on a show of hands or on a poll, the chairman of the meeting at which the show of
hands takes place or at which the poll is demanded shall not be entitled to a casting vote.
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67.

No Right to Vote Where Sums Overdue on Shares

No member may vote at a general meeting (or any separate meeting of the holders of any class of shares), either in person or by proxy,
or to exercise any other right or privilege as a member in respect of a share held by him unless:
(a)

all calls or other sums presently due and payable by him in respect of that share whether alone or jointly with any
other person together with interest and expenses (if any) have been paid to the Company; or

(b)

the Board determines otherwise.

68.

Voting by Proxy

68.1

Subject to Article 68.2, an instrument appointing a proxy shall be in writing in any usual form (or in another form approved
by the Board) executed under the hand of the appointor or his duly constituted attorney or, if the appointor is a corporation,
under its seal or signed by a duly authorised officer or attorney or other person authorised to sign.

68.2

Subject to the Companies Acts, the Board may accept the appointment of a proxy received by electronic means on such
terms and subject to such conditions as it considers fit. The appointment of a proxy received by electronic means shall not be
subject to the requirements of Article 68.1.

68.3

For the purposes of Articles 68.1 and 68.2, the Board may require such reasonable evidence it considers necessary to
determine:
(a)

the identity of the member and the proxy; and

(b)

where the proxy is appointed by a person acting on behalf of the member, the authority of that person to make the
appointment.

68.4

A member may appoint another person as his proxy to exercise all or any of his rights to attend and to speak and to vote
(both on a show of hands and on a poll) on a resolution or amendment of a resolution, or on other business arising, at a
meeting or meetings of the Company. Unless the contrary is stated in it, the appointment of a proxy shall be deemed to
confer authority to exercise all such rights, as the proxy thinks fit.

68.5

A proxy need not be a member.

68.6

A member may appoint more than one proxy in relation to a meeting, provided that each proxy is appointed to exercise the
rights attached to different shares held by the member. When two or more valid but differing appointments of proxy are
delivered or received for the same share for use at the same meeting, the one which is last validly delivered or received
(regardless of its date or the date of its execution) shall be treated as replacing and revoking the other or others as regards that
share. If the Company is unable to determine which appointment was last validly delivered or received, none of them shall
be treated as valid in respect of that share.
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68.7

Delivery or receipt of an appointment of proxy does not prevent a member attending and voting in person at the meeting or
an adjournment of the meeting or on a poll.

68.8

The appointment of a proxy shall (unless the contrary is stated in it) be valid for an adjournment of the meeting as well as for
the meeting or meetings to which it relates. The appointment of a proxy shall be valid for 12 months from the date of
execution or, in the case of an appointment of proxy delivered by electronic means, for 12 months from the date of delivery
unless otherwise specified by the Board.

68.9

Subject to the Companies Acts, the Company may send a form of appointment of proxy to all or none of the persons entitled
to receive notice of and to vote at a meeting. If sent, the form shall provide for three-way voting on all resolutions (other than
procedural resolutions) set out in the notice of meeting.

69.

Receipt of Proxy

69.1

An instrument appointing a proxy and any reasonable evidence required by the Board in accordance with Article 68.3 shall:
(a)

subject to Articles 69.1(c) and (d), in the case of an instrument of proxy in hard copy form, delivered to the office,
or another place in the United Kingdom specified in the notice convening the meeting or in the form of
appointment of proxy or other accompanying document sent by the Company in relation to the meeting (a proxy
notification address) not less than 48 hours before the time for holding the meeting or adjourned meeting at
which the person named in the form of appointment of proxy proposes to vote;

(b)

subject to Articles 69.1(c) and (d), in the case of an appointment of a proxy sent by electronic means, where the
Company has given an electronic address (a proxy notification electronic address):
(i)

in the notice calling the meeting;

(ii)

in an instrument of proxy sent out by the Company in relation to the meeting;

(iii)

in an invitation to appoint a proxy issued by the Company in relation to the meeting; or

(iv)

on a website maintained by or on behalf of the Company on which any information relating to the
meeting is required by the Act to be kept,
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it shall be received at such proxy notification electronic address not less than 48 hours before the time for holding the meeting or
adjourned meeting at which the person named in the form of appointment of proxy proposes to vote;
(c)

in the case of a poll taken more than 48 hours after it is demanded, delivered or received at a proxy notification
address or a proxy notification electronic address and not less than 24 hours before the time appointed for the
holding of the adjourned meeting or the taking of the poll; or

(d)

in the case of a poll which is not taken at the meeting at which it is demanded but is taken 48 hours or less after it
is demanded, or in the case of an adjourned meeting to be held 48 hours or less after the time fixed for holding the
original meeting, received:
(i)

at a proxy notification address or a proxy notification electronic address in accordance with Articles
69.1(a) or (b);

(ii)

by the chairman of the meeting or the secretary or any director at the meeting at which the poll is
demanded or, as the case may be, at the original meeting; or

(iii)

at a proxy notification address or a proxy notification electronic address by such time as the chairman of
the meeting may direct at the meeting at which the poll is demanded.

in calculating the periods in this Article, no account shall be taken of any part of a day that is not a working day.
69.2

The Board may decide, either generally or in any particular case, to treat a proxy appointment as valid notwithstanding that
the appointment or any of the information required under Article 68.3 has not been received in accordance with the
requirements of this Article.

69.3

Subject to Article 69.2, if the proxy appointment and any of the information required under Article 68.3 is not received in the
manner set out in Article 69.1, the appointee shall not be entitled to vote in respect of the shares in question.

69.4

Without limiting the foregoing, in relation to any uncertificated shares, the Board may from time to time:
(a)

permit appointments of a proxy by means of a communication sent in electronic form in the form of an
uncertificated proxy instruction; and

(b)

permit supplements to, or amendments or revocations of, any such uncertificated proxy instruction by the same
means.
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The Board may in addition prescribe the method of determining the time at which any such uncertificated proxy instruction is to be
treated as received by the Company or a participant acting on its behalf. The Board may treat any such uncertificated proxy instruction
which purports to be or is expressed to be sent on behalf of a holder of a share as sufficient evidence of the authority of the person
sending that instruction to send it on behalf of that holder.
70.

Revocation of Proxy

A vote given or poll demanded by a proxy shall be valid in the event of the death or mental disorder of the principal or the revocation
of the instrument of proxy, or of the authority under which the instrument of proxy was executed, or the transfer of the share for which
the instrument of proxy is given, unless notice in writing of such death, mental disorder, revocation or transfer shall have been received
by the Company at the office, or at such other place as has been appointed for the deposit of instruments of proxy, no later than the last
time at which an appointment of a proxy should have been received in order for it to be valid for use at the meeting or on the holding
of the poll at which the vote was given or the poll taken.
71.

Corporate Representatives

71.1

A corporation (whether or not a company within the meaning of the Act) which is a member may, by resolution of its
directors or other governing body, authorise such person as it thinks fit to act as its representative (or, as the case may be,
representatives) at any meeting of the Company or at any separate meeting of the holders of any class of shares.

71.2

Any person so authorised shall be entitled to exercise the same powers on behalf of the corporation (in respect of that part of
the corporation’s holdings to which the authority relates) as the corporation could exercise if it were an individual member.

71.3

The corporation shall for the purposes of these Articles be deemed to be present in person and at any such meeting if a
person so authorised is present at it, and all references to attendance and voting in person shall be construed accordingly.

71.4

A Director, the Secretary or some person authorised for the purpose by the Secretary may require the representative to
produce a certified copy of the resolution so authorising him or such other evidence of his authority reasonably satisfactory
to them before permitting him to exercise his powers.

71.5

A vote given or a poll demanded by a corporate representative shall be valid notwithstanding that he is no longer authorised
to represent the member unless notice of the revocation of appointment was delivered in writing to the Company at such
place or address and by such time as is specified in Article 70 for the revocation of the appointment of a proxy.
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72.

Failure to Disclose Interests in Shares

72.1

If a member, or any other person appearing to be interested in shares held by that member, has been issued with a notice
under section 793 of the Act (section 793 notice) and has failed in relation to any shares (default shares, which expression
includes any shares issued after the date of such notice in right of those shares) to give the Company the information required
by the section 793 notice within the prescribed period from the service of the notice, the following sanctions shall apply
unless the Board determines otherwise:
(a)

the member shall not be entitled in respect of the default shares to be present or to vote (either in person or by
representative or proxy) at any general meeting or at any separate meeting of the holders of any class of shares or
on any poll or to exercise any other right conferred by membership in relation to any such meeting or poll; and

(b)

where the default shares represent at least 0.25% in nominal value of the issued shares of their class (calculated
exclusive of any shares held as treasury shares):

(c)

72.2

(i)

any dividend or other money payable for such shares shall be withheld by the Company, which shall
not have any obligation to pay interest on it, and the member shall not be entitled to elect, pursuant to
Article 130, to receive shares instead of that dividend; and

(ii)

no transfer, other than an excepted transfer, of any shares held by the member shall be registered unless
the member himself is not in default of supplying the required information and the member proves to the
satisfaction of the Board that no person in default of supplying such information is interested in any of
the shares that are the subject of the transfer.

For the purposes of ensuring Article 72.1(b)(ii) can apply to all shares held by the member, the Company may in
accordance with the uncertificated securities rules, issue a written notification to the Operator requiring conversion
into certificated form of any share held by the member in uncertificated form.

Where the sanctions under Article 72.1 apply in relation to any shares, they shall cease to have effect (and any dividends
withheld under Article 72.1(b) shall become payable):
(a)

if the shares are transferred by means of an excepted transfer but only in respect of the shares transferred; or

(b)

at the end of the period of seven days (or such shorter period as the Board may determine) following receipt by the
Company of the information required by the section 793 notice and the Board being fully satisfied that such
information is full and complete.
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72.3

Where, on the basis of information obtained from a member in respect of any share held by him, the Company issues a
section 793 notice to any other person, it shall at the same time send a copy of the notice to the member, but the accidental
omission to do so, or the non-receipt by the member of the copy, shall not invalidate or otherwise affect the application of
Article 72.1.

72.4

For the purposes of this Article:

72.5

(a)

a person, other than the member holding a share, shall be treated as appearing to be interested in that share if the
member has informed the Company that the person is, or may be, so interested, or if the Company (after taking
account of any information obtained from the member or, pursuant to a section 793 notice, from anyone else)
knows or has reasonable cause to believe that the person is, or may be, so interested;

(b)

interested shall be construed as it is for the purpose of section 793 of the Act;

(c)

reference to a person having failed to give the Company the information required by a notice, or being in default
as regards supplying such information, includes reference:
(i)

to his having failed or refused to give all of any part of it; and

(ii)

to his having given information which he knows to be false in a material particular or having recklessly
given information which is false in a material particular;

(d)

prescribed period means 14 days;

(e)

excepted transfer means, in relation to any shares held by a member:
(i)

a transfer by way of or pursuant to acceptance of a takeover offer for the Company (within the meaning
of section 974 of the Act); or

(ii)

a transfer in consequence of a sale made through a recognised investment exchange (as defined in
section 285 of the FSMA) or any other stock exchange outside the United Kingdom on which the
Company’s shares are normally traded; or

(iii)

a transfer which is shown to the satisfaction of the Board to be made in consequence of a sale of the
whole of the beneficial interest in the shares to a person who is unconnected with the member and with
any other person appearing to be interested in the shares.

Nothing contained in this Article shall be taken to limit the powers of the Company under section 794 of the Act.
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73.

Power of Sale of Shares of Untraced Members

73.1

The Company shall be entitled to sell at the best price reasonably obtainable any share of a member, or any share to which a
person is entitled by transmission, if and provided that:

73.2

(a)

during the period of 12 years before the date of sending of the notice referred to in Article 73.1(b) no cheque,
order or warrant in respect of such share sent by the Company through the post in a pre-paid envelope addressed
to the member or to the person entitled by transmission to the share, at his address on the Register or other last
known address given by the member or person to which cheques, orders or warrants in respect of such share are
to be sent has been cashed and the Company has received no communications in respect of such share from such
member or person entitled, provided that during such period of 12 years the Company has paid at least three cash
dividends (whether interim or final) and no such dividend has been claimed by the person entitled to it;

(b)

on or after expiry of the said period of 12 years, the Company has given notice of its intention to sell such share by
sending a notice to the member or person entitled by transmission to the share at his address on the Register or
other last known address given by the member or person entitled by transmission to the share and before sending
such a notice to the member or other person entitled by transmission, the Company must have used reasonable
efforts to trace the member or other person entitled, engaging, if considered appropriate, a professional asset
reunification company or other tracing agent and/or giving notice of its intention to sell the share by advertisement
in a national newspaper and in a newspaper circulating in the area of the address of the member or person entitled
by transmission to the share shown in the Register;

(c)

during the further period of three months following the date of such notice and prior to the exercise of the power
of sale the Company has not received any communication in respect of such share from the member or person
entitled by transmission; and

(d)

the Company has given notice to NASDAQ of its intention to make such sale, if shares of the class concerned, or
certificated or uncertificated depositary instruments over such shares, are listed on NASDAQ or dealt in on any
other recognised stock exchange on which the shares are listed.

to give effect to any sale of shares under this Article, the Board may authorise some person to transfer the shares in question
and may enter the name of the transferee in respect of the transferred shares in the Register even if no share certificate has
been lodged for such shares and may issue a new certificate to the transferee. An instrument of transfer executed by that
person shall be as effective as if it had been executed by the holder of, or the person entitled by transmission to, the shares.
The buyer shall not be bound to see to the application of the purchase monies, nor shall his title to the shares be affected by
any irregularity or invalidity in the proceedings in reference to the sale. If the
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shares are in uncertificated form, in accordance with the uncertificated securities rules, the Board may issue a written
notification to the Operator requiring the conversion of the share to certificated form.
73.3

If during the period of 12 years referred to in Article 73.1, or during any period ending on the date when all the requirements
of Articles 73.1(a) to 73.1(d) have been satisfied, any additional shares have been issued in respect of those held at the
beginning of, or previously so issued during, any such period and all the requirements of Articles 73.1(b) to 73.1(d) have
been satisfied in regard to such additional shares, the Company shall also be entitled to sell the additional shares.

74.

Application of Proceeds of Sale of Shares of Untraced Members

The Company shall account to the member or other person entitled to the share for the net proceeds of a sale under Article 73 by
carrying all monies relating to such sale to a separate account. The Company shall be deemed to be a debtor to, and not a trustee for,
such member or other person in respect of such monies. Monies carried to such separate account may either be employed in the
business of the Company or invested in such investments as the Board may think fit. No interest shall be payable to such member or
other person in respect of such monies and the Company does not have to account for any money earned on them.
75.

Number of Directors

Unless otherwise determined by the Company by ordinary resolution, the number of Directors (other than any alternate Directors) shall
be at least two but shall not be subject to any maximum number.
76.

Power of Company to Appoint Directors

Subject to these Articles and the Companies Acts, the Company may by ordinary resolution appoint a person who is willing to act to
be a Director, either to fill a vacancy or as an addition to the existing Board but the total number of Directors shall not exceed any
maximum number fixed in accordance with these Articles.
77.

Power of Board to Appoint Directors

Subject to these Articles, the Board shall have power at any time to appoint any person who is willing to act as a Director, either to fill
a vacancy or as an addition to the existing Board but the total number of Directors shall not exceed any maximum number fixed in
accordance with these Articles.
78.

Eligibility of New Directors

78.1

No person, other than a retiring Director (by rotation or otherwise), shall be appointed or re-appointed a Director at any
general meeting unless:
(a)

he is recommended by the Board; or
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(b)

at least seven but not more than 42 clear days before the date appointed for the meeting the Company has received
notice from a member (other than the person proposed) entitled to vote at the meeting of his intention to propose a
resolution for the appointment or re-appointment of that person, stating the particulars which would, if he were so
appointed or re-appointed, be required to be included in the Company’s register of directors and a notice executed
by that person of his willingness to be appointed or re-appointed, is lodged at the office.

78.2

A Director need not be a member of the Company.

79.

Retirement of Directors

at each annual general meeting of the Company any Director then in office:
(a)

who has been appointed by the Board since the previous annual general meeting in accordance with Article 77; or

(b)

for whom it is the third annual general meeting following the annual general meeting at which he was elected or
last re-elected;

shall retire from office but shall be eligible for re-appointment.
80.

Deemed Re-Appointment

80.1

A Director who retires at an annual general meeting shall (unless he is removed from office or his office is vacated in
accordance with these Articles) retain office until the close of the meeting at which he retires or (if earlier) when a resolution
is passed at that meeting not to fill the vacancy or to elect another person in his place or the resolution to re-appoint him is
put to the meeting and lost.

80.2

If the Company, at any meeting at which a Director retires in accordance with these Articles does not fill the office vacated
by such Director, the retiring Director, if willing to act, shall be deemed to be re-appointed unless at that meeting a resolution
is passed not to fill the vacancy or elect another person in his place or unless the resolution to re-appoint him is put to the
meeting and lost.

81.

Procedure If Insufficient Directors Appointed

81.1

If:
(a)

at the annual general meeting in any year any resolution or resolutions for the appointment or re-appointment of
the persons eligible for appointment or re-appointment as Directors are put to the meeting and lost; and

(b)

at the end of that meeting the number of Directors is fewer than any minimum number of Directors required under
Article 75.
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All retiring Directors who stood for re-appointment at that meeting (Retiring Directors) shall be deemed to have been re-appointed as
Directors and shall remain in office but the Retiring Directors may only act for the purpose of filling vacancies, convening general
meetings of the Company and performing such duties as are essential to maintain the Company as a going concern, and not for any
other purpose.
81.2

The Retiring Directors shall convene a general meeting as soon as reasonably practicable following the meeting referred to
in Article 81.1 and they shall retire from office at that meeting. If at the end of any meeting convened under this Article the
number of Directors is fewer than any minimum number of Directors required under Article 75, the provisions of this Article
shall also apply to that meeting.

82.

Removal of Directors

in addition to any power of removal conferred by the Companies Acts, the Company may by special resolution, or by ordinary
resolution of which special notice has been given in accordance with section 312 of the Act, remove a director before the expiry of his
period of office (without prejudice to a claim for damages for breach of contract or otherwise) and may (subject to these Articles) by
ordinary resolution appoint another person who is willing to act to be a director in his place.
83.

Vacation of office by Director

83.1

Without prejudice to the provisions for retirement (by rotation or otherwise) contained in these Articles, the office of a
Director shall be vacated if:
(a)

he resigns by notice in writing delivered to the Secretary at the office or at an address specified by the Company
for the purposes of communication by electronic means or tendered at a Board meeting;

(b)

he offers to resign by notice in writing delivered to the Secretary at the office or at an address specified by the
Company for the purposes of communication by electronic means or tendered at a Board meeting and the Board
resolves to accept such offer;

(c)

he is requested to resign by all of the other Directors by notice in writing addressed to him at his address as shown
in the register of Directors (without prejudice to any claim for damages which he may have for breach of any
contract between him and the Company);

(d)

he ceases to be a Director by virtue of any provision of the Companies Acts, is removed from office pursuant to
these Articles or the Act or becomes prohibited by law from being a Director;

(e)

he becomes bankrupt or makes an arrangement or composition with his creditors generally;
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(f)

a registered medical practitioner who is treating that person gives a written opinion to the Company stating that
person has become physically or mentally incapable of acting as a director and may remain so for more than three
months, or he is or has been suffering from mental or physical ill health and the Board resolves that his office be
vacated; or

(g)

he is absent (whether or not his alternate Director appointed by him attends), without the permission of the Board,
from Board meetings for six consecutive months and a notice is served on him personally, or at his residential
address provided to the Company under section 165 of the Act signed by all the other Directors stating that he
shall cease to be a Director with immediate effect (and such notice may consist of several copies each signed by
one or more Directors).

83.2

If the office of a Director is vacated for any reason, he shall cease to be a member of any committee or sub-committee of the
Board.

84.

Resolution As to Vacancy Conclusive

A resolution of the Board declaring a Director to have vacated office under the terms of Article 83 shall be conclusive as to the fact and
ground of vacation stated in the resolution.
85.

Appointment of Alternate Directors

85.1

Each Director may appoint any person (including another Director) to be his alternate and may at his discretion remove an
alternate Director so appointed. Any appointment or removal of an alternate Director must be by written notice delivered to
the office or at an address specified by the Company for the purposes of communication by electronic means or tendered at a
Board meeting or in any other manner approved by the Board. The appointment requires the approval of the Board unless it
has been previously approved or the appointee is another Director.

85.2

An alternate Director must provide the particulars, and sign any form for public filing required by the Companies Acts
relating to his appointment.

86.

Alternate Directors’ Participation in Board Meetings

86.1

Every alternate Director is (subject to his giving to the Company an address within the United Kingdom at which notices
may be served on him (and, if applicable, an address in relation to which electronic communications may be received by
him)) entitled to receive notice of all meetings of the Board and all committees of the Board of which his appointor is a
member and, in his appointor’s absence, to attend and vote at such meetings and to exercise all the powers, rights, duties and
authorities of his appointor. Each person acting as an alternate Director shall have a separate vote at Board meetings for each
Director for whom he acts as alternate Director in addition to his own vote if he is also a Director, but he shall count as only
one for the purpose of determining whether a quorum is present.
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86.2

Signature by an alternate Director of any resolution in writing of the Board or a committee of the Board will, unless the
notice of his appointment provides otherwise, be as effective as signature by his appointor.

87.

Alternate Director Responsible For Own Acts

Each person acting as an alternate Director will be an officer of the Company, will alone be responsible to the Company for his own
acts and defaults and will not be deemed to be the agent of the Director appointing him.
88.

Interests of Alternate Director

An alternate Director is entitled to contract and be interested in and benefit from contracts or arrangements with the Company, to be
repaid expenses and to be indemnified to the same extent as if he were a Director. However, he is not entitled to receive from the
Company any fees for his services as alternate, except such part (if any) of the fee payable to his appointor as such appointor may by
written notice to the Company direct.
89.

Revocation of Alternate Director

An alternate Director will cease to be an alternate Director:

90.

(a)

if his appointor revokes his appointment; or

(b)

if he resigns his office by notice in writing to the Company; or

(c)

if his appointor ceases for any reason to be a Director, provided that if any Director retires but is re-appointed or
deemed to be re-appointed at the same meeting, any valid appointment of an alternate Director which was in force
immediately before his retirement shall remain in force; or

(d)

if any event happens in relation to him which, if he were a Director otherwise appointed, would cause him to
vacate his office.

Directors’ Fees

Each of the Directors may be paid a fee at such rate as may from time to time be determined by the Board. However, the aggregate of
all fees payable to the Directors (other than amounts payable under any other provision of these Articles) must not exceed £250,000 a
year or such higher amount as may from time to time be decided by ordinary resolution of the Company. Any fees payable under this
Article shall be distinct from any salary, remuneration or other amounts payable to a Director under any other provisions of these
Articles and shall accrue from day to day.
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91.

Expenses

Each Director may be paid his reasonable travelling, hotel and other expenses properly incurred by him in or about the performance of
his duties as Director, including any expenses incurred in attending meetings of the Board or any committee of the Board or general
meetings or separate meetings of the holders of any class of shares or debentures of the Company. Subject to the Act, the Directors
shall have the power to make arrangements to provide a Director with funds to meet expenditure incurred or to be incurred by him for
the purposes of the Company or for the purpose of enabling him to perform his duties as an officer of the Company or to enable him to
avoid incurring any such expenditure.
92.

Additional Remuneration

If by arrangement with the Board any Director shall perform or render any special duties or services outside his ordinary duties as a
Director and not in his capacity as a holder of employment or executive office, he may be paid such reasonable additional remuneration
(whether by way of salary, commission, participation in profits or otherwise) as the Board may determine.
93.

Remuneration of Executive Directors

The salary or remuneration of any Director appointed to hold any employment or executive office in accordance with these Articles
may be either a fixed sum of money, or may altogether or in part be governed by business done or profits made or otherwise
determined by the Board, and may be in addition to or instead of any fee payable to him for his services as Director under these
Articles.
94.

Pensions and Other Benefits

94.1

The Board may exercise all the powers of the Company to provide pensions or other retirement or superannuation benefits
and to provide death or disability benefits or other allowances or gratuities (whether by insurance or otherwise) for any
person who is or has at any time been a Director or employee of:
(a)

the Company;

(b)

any company which is or was a holding company or a subsidiary undertaking of the Company;

(c)

any company which is or was allied to or associated with the Company or a subsidiary undertaking or holding
company of the Company; or

(d)

a predecessor in business of the Company or of any holding company or subsidiary undertaking of the Company.

and, in each case, for any member of his family (including a spouse or former spouse) and any person who is or was dependent on
him.
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94.2

The Board may establish, maintain, subscribe and contribute to any scheme, institution, association, club, trust or fund and
pay premiums and, subject to the Companies Acts, lend money or make payments to, guarantee or give an indemnity in
respect of, or give any financial or other assistance in connection with any of the matters set out in Article 94.1 above. The
Board may procure any of such matters to be done by the Company either alone or in conjunction with any other person.
Any Director or former Director shall be entitled to receive and retain for his own benefit any pension or other benefit
provided under this Article and shall not have to account for it to the Company. The receipt of any such benefit will not
disqualify any person from being or becoming a Director of the Company.

95.

Powers of The Board

95.1

Subject to the Companies Acts, these Articles and to any directions given by special resolution of the Company, the business
of the Company will be managed by the Board, which may exercise all the powers of the Company, whether relating to the
management of the business or not.

95.2

No alteration of these Articles and no such direction given by the Company shall invalidate any prior act of the Board which
would have been valid if such alteration had not been made or such direction had not been given.

Provisions contained elsewhere in these Articles as to any specific power of the Board shall not be deemed to limit the general powers
given by this Article.
96.

Powers of Directors If Less Than Minimum Number

If the number of Directors is less than the minimum prescribed in Article 75 or decided by the Company by ordinary resolution, the
remaining Director or Directors may act only for the purposes of appointing an additional Director or Directors to make up that
minimum or convening a general meeting of the Company for the purpose of making such appointment. If no Director or Directors is
or are able or willing to act, two members may convene a general meeting for the purpose of appointing Directors. An additional
Director appointed in this way holds office (subject to these Articles) only until the dissolution of the next annual general meeting after
his appointment unless he is reappointed during the annual general meeting.
97.

Powers of Executive Directors

The Board or any committee authorised by the Board may:
(a)

delegate or entrust to and confer on any Director holding executive office (including a chief executive or
managing director, if appointed) such of its powers, authorities and discretions (with power to sub-delegate) for
such time, on such terms and subject to such conditions as it thinks fit; and

(b)

revoke, withdraw, alter or vary all or any of such powers.
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98.

Delegation to Committees

98.1

The Board may delegate any of its powers, authorities and discretions (with power to sub-delegate) for such time on such
terms and subject to such conditions as it thinks fit to any committee consisting of one or more Directors and (if thought fit)
one or more other persons provided that:
(a)

a majority of the members of a committee shall be Directors; and

(b)

no resolution of a committee shall be effective unless a majority of those present when it is passed are Directors or
alternate Directors.

98.2

The Board may confer such powers either collaterally with, or to the exclusion of and in substitution for, all or any of the
powers of the Board in that respect and may revoke, withdraw, alter or vary any such powers and discharge any such
committee in whole or in part. Insofar as any power, authority or discretion is so delegated, any reference in these Articles to
the exercise by the Board of such power, authority or discretion shall be construed as if it were a reference to the exercise of
such power, authority or discretion by such committee.

99.

Local Management

99.1

The Board may establish any local or divisional boards or agencies for managing any of the affairs of the Company in any
specified locality, either in the United Kingdom or elsewhere, and appoint any persons to be members of such local or
divisional board, or any managers or agents, and may fix their remuneration.

99.2

The Board may delegate to any local or divisional board, manager or agent so appointed any of its powers, authorities and
discretions (with power to sub-delegate) and may authorise the members of any such local or divisional board, or any of
them, to fill any vacancies and to act notwithstanding vacancies. Any such appointment or delegation under this Article may
be made, on such terms conditions as the Board may think fit. The Board may confer such powers either collaterally with, or
to the exclusion of and in substitution for, all or any of the powers of the Board in that respect and may revoke, withdraw,
alter or vary all or any of such powers.

99.3

Subject to any terms and conditions expressly imposed by the Board, the proceedings of any local or divisional board or
agency with two or more members shall be governed by such of these Articles as regulate the proceedings of the Board, so
far as they are capable of applying.

100.

Power of Attorney

The Board may, by power of attorney or otherwise, appoint any person or persons to be the agent or attorney of the Company and may
delegate to any such person or persons any of its powers, authorities and discretions (with power to sub-delegate), in each case for such
purposes and for such time, on such terms (including as to remuneration) and conditions as it thinks fit. The Board may confer such
powers either collaterally with, or to the exclusion of and in substitution for, all or any of the powers of the Board in that respect and
may revoke, withdraw, alter or vary any of such powers.
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101.

Exercise of Voting Power

The Board may exercise or cause to be exercised the voting power conferred by the shares in any other company held or owned by the
Company, or any power of appointment to be exercised by the Company, in such manner as it thinks fit (including the exercise of the
voting power or power of appointment in favour of the appointment of any Director as a director or other officer or employee of such
company or in favour of the payment of remuneration to the directors, officers or employees of such company).
102.

Provision For Employees on Cessation of Business

The Board may, by resolution, sanction the exercise of the power to make provision for the benefit of persons employed or formerly
employed by the Company or any of its subsidiary undertakings, in connection with the cessation or the transfer to any person of the
whole or part of the undertaking of the Company or that subsidiary undertaking, but any such resolution shall not be sufficient for
payments to or for the benefit of directors, former directors or shadow directors.
103.

Overseas Registers

Subject to the Companies Acts, the Company may keep an overseas, local or other register and the Board may make and vary such
regulations as it thinks fit respecting the keeping of any such register.
104.
104.1

104.2

Borrowing Powers
Subject to these Articles and the Companies Acts, the Board may exercise all the powers of the Company to:
(a)

borrow money;

(b)

indemnify and guarantee;

(c)

mortgage or charge all or any part of the undertaking, property and assets (present and future) and uncalled capital
of the Company;

(d)

create and issue debentures and other securities; and

(e)

give security either outright or as collateral security for any debt, liability or obligation of the Company or of any
third party.

For the purpose of this Article, Group means the Company and its subsidiary undertakings for the time being.
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104.3

104.4

Borrowings shall be deemed to include the following except in so far as otherwise taken into account:
(a)

the nominal amount of any issued and paid up share capital (other than equity share capital) of any subsidiary
undertaking of the Company owned otherwise than by a member of the Group;

(b)

the nominal amount of any other issued and paid up share capital and the principal amount of any debentures or
borrowed moneys which is not at the relevant time beneficially owned by a member of the Group, the redemption
or repayment of which is the subject of a guarantee or indemnity by a member of the Group or which any member
of the Group may be required to buy;

(c)

the principal amount of any debenture (whether secured or unsecured) of a member of the Group beneficially
owned otherwise than by a member of the Group;

(d)

the outstanding amount raised by acceptances by any bank or accepting house under any acceptance credit opened
by or on behalf of any member of the Group;

(e)

the minority proportion of moneys borrowed by a member of the Group and owing to a partly-owned subsidiary
undertaking.

Borrowings shall not include and shall be deemed not to include:
(a)

borrowings incurred by any member of the Group for the purpose of repaying within six months of the borrowing
the whole or any part (with or without premium) of any borrowings of that or other member of the Group then
outstanding, pending their application for such purpose within such period;

(b)

the minority proportion of moneys borrowed by a partly owned subsidiary undertaking and not owing to another
member of the Group.

104.5

When the aggregate principal amount of borrowings required to be taken into account on any particular date is being
ascertained, any particular borrowing then outstanding which is denominated or repayable in a currency other than sterling
shall be notionally converted into sterling at the rate of exchange prevailing in London on the last business day before that
date or, if it would result in a lower figure, at the rate of exchange prevailing in London on the last business day six months
before that date. For these purposes the rate of exchange shall be taken to be the spot rate in London recommended by a
London clearing bank, selected by the Board, as being the most appropriate rate for the purchase by the company of the
currency in question for sterling on the day in question.

104.6

A certificate or report by the auditors of the Company as to the amount of any borrowings or to the effect that the limit
imposed by this Article has not been or will not be exceeded at any particular time or times, shall be conclusive evidence of
such amount or fact for the purposes of this Article. Nevertheless the Board may at any time rely on a bona fide
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estimate of the aggregate of the borrowings. If, in consequence, the limit on borrowings set out in this Article is inadvertently
exceeded, the amount of borrowings equal to the excess may be disregarded for 90 days after the date on which by reason of
a determination of the auditors of the Company or otherwise the Board becomes aware that such a situation has or may have
arisen.
104.7

105.

No person dealing with the Company or any of its subsidiary undertakings shall be concerned to see or enquire whether the
said limit is observed and no debt incurred or security given in excess of such limit shall be invalid or ineffectual unless the
lender or recipient of the security had, at the time the debt was incurred or security given, express notice that the said limit
had been or would be exceeded.
Board Meetings

105.1

The Board can decide when and where to have meetings and how they will be conducted. They may also adjourn meetings.

105.2

A Board meeting can be called by any Director. The company Secretary must call a Board meeting if asked to do so by a
Director.

106.

Notice of Board Meetings

106.1

Notice of a Board meeting shall be deemed to be duly given to a Director if it is given to him personally or by word of
mouth or given in writing or by electronic means to him at his last known address or any other address given by him to the
Company for that purpose.

106.2

A Director may waive the requirement that notice be given to him of any Board meeting, either prospectively or
retrospectively and any retrospective waiver shall not affect the validity of the meeting or of any business conducted at the
meeting.

106.3

It shall not be necessary to give notice of a Board meeting to a Director who is absent from the United Kingdom unless he
has asked the Board in writing that notices of Board meetings shall during his absence be given to him at any address in the
United Kingdom notified to the Company for this purpose, but he shall not, in such event, be entitled to a longer period of
notice than if he had been present in the United Kingdom at that address.

107.

Quorum

107.1

The quorum necessary for the transaction of business may be determined by the Board and until otherwise determined shall
be two persons, each being a Director or an alternate Director. A duly convened meeting of the Board at which a quorum is
present shall be competent to exercise all or any of the authorities, powers, and discretions for the time being vested in or
exercisable by the Board.

107.2

If a Director ceases to be a director at a Board meeting, he can continue to be present and to act as a director and be counted
in the quorum until the end of the meeting if no other Director objects and if otherwise a quorum of Directors would not be
present.
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108.

Chairman

108.1

The Board may appoint one or more of its body as chairman or joint chairman and one or more of its body as deputy
chairman of its meetings and may determine the period for which he is or they are to hold office and may at any time remove
him or them from office.

108.2

If no such chairman or deputy chairman is elected, or if at any meeting neither a chairman nor a deputy chairman is present
within ten minutes of the time appointed for holding the same, the Directors present shall choose one of their number to be
chairman of such meeting. in the event two or more joint Chairmen or, in the absence of a chairman, two or more deputy
chairman being present, the joint chairman or deputy chairman to act as chairman of the meeting shall be decided by those
Directors present.

109.

Voting

Questions arising at any Board meeting shall be determined by a majority of votes. in the case of an equality of votes the chairman of
that meeting shall have a second or casting vote (unless he is not entitled to vote on the resolution in question).
110.

Participation by Telephone Or Other Form of Communication

110.1

Any Director or his alternate may validly participate in a meeting of the Board or a committee of the Board through the
medium of conference telephone or any other form of communications equipment (whether in use when these Articles are
adopted or developed subsequently), provided that all persons participating in the meeting are able to hear and speak to each
other throughout such meeting.

110.2

A person so participating by telephone or other communication shall be deemed to be present in person at the meeting and
shall be counted in a quorum and entitled to vote. Such a meeting shall be deemed to take place where the largest group of
those participating is assembled or, if there is no group which is larger than any other group, where the chairman of the
meeting then is.

110.3

A resolution passed at any meeting held in the above manner, and signed by the chairman of the meeting, shall be as valid
and effectual as if it had been passed at a meeting of the Board (or committee, as the case may be) duly convened and held.

111.
111.1

Resolution in Writing
A resolution in writing signed or confirmed electronically by all the Directors for the time being entitled to receive notice of a
Board meeting and to vote on the resolution and not being less than a quorum (or by all the members of a committee of the
Board for the time being entitled to receive notice of such committee meeting and to vote on the resolution and not being less
than a quorum of that committee), shall be as valid and effective for all purposes as a resolution duly passed at a meeting of
the Board (or committee, as the case may be).
- 43 -

111.2
112.

Such a resolution may consist of several documents or electronic communications in the same form each signed or
authenticated by one or more of the Directors or members of the relevant committee.
Proceedings of Committees

All committees of the Board shall, in the exercise of the powers delegated to them and in the transaction of business, conform with any
mode of proceedings and regulations which the Board may prescribe and subject to this shall be governed by such of these Articles as
regulate the proceedings of the Board as are capable of applying.
113.

Minutes of Proceedings

113.1

The Board shall keep minutes of all shareholder meetings, all Board meetings and meetings of committees of the Board. The
minutes must include the names of the Directors present.

113.2

Any such minutes, if purporting to be signed by the chairman of the meeting at which the proceedings were held or by the
chairman of the next meeting or the Secretary, shall be evidence of the matters stated in such minutes without any further
proof.

114.

Validity of Proceedings

All acts done by a meeting of the Board, or of a committee of the Board, or by any person acting as a Director, alternate Director or
member of a committee shall be valid even if it is discovered afterwards that there was some defect in the appointment of any person or
persons acting, or that they or any of them were or was disqualified from holding office or not entitled to vote, or had in any way
vacated their or his office.
115.
115.1

Transactions or Other Arrangements with The Company
Subject to the Companies Acts and provided he has declared the nature and extent of his interest in accordance with the
requirements of the Companies Acts, a Director who is in any way, whether directly or indirectly, interested in an existing or
proposed transaction or arrangement with the Company may:
(a)

be a party to, or otherwise interested in, any transaction or arrangement with the Company or in which the
Company is otherwise (directly or indirectly) interested;

(b)

act by himself or through his firm in a professional capacity for the Company (otherwise than as auditor) and he or
his firm shall be entitled to remuneration for professional services as if he were not a Director;

(c)

be or become a director or other officer of, or employed by, or a party to a transaction or arrangement with, or
otherwise interested in, any body corporate in which the Company is otherwise (directly or indirectly) interested;
and
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(d)
115.2

116.

hold any office or place of profit with the Company (except as auditor) in conjunction with his office of Director
for such period and upon such terms, including as to remuneration as the Board may decide.

A Director shall not, save as he may otherwise agree, be accountable to the Company for any benefit which he derives from
any such contract, transaction or arrangement or from any such office or employment or from any interest in any such body
corporate and no such contract, transaction or arrangement shall be liable to be avoided on the grounds of any such interest
or benefit nor shall the receipt of any such remuneration or other benefit constitute a breach of his duty under section 176 of
the Act.
Authorisation of Directors’ Conflicts of Interest

116.1

The Board may, in accordance with the requirements set out in this Article, authorise any matter or situation proposed to
them by any Director which would, if not authorised, involve a Director (an Interested Director) breaching his duty under
the Act to avoid conflicts of interest.

116.2

A Director seeking authorisation in respect of a conflict of interest shall declare to the Board the nature and extent of his
interest in a conflict of interest as soon as is reasonably practicable. The Director shall provide the Board with such details of
the matter as are necessary for the Board to decide how to address the conflict of interest together with such additional
information as may be requested by the Board.

116.3

Any authorisation under this Article will be effective only if:

116.4

(a)

to the extent permitted by the Act, the matter in question shall have been proposed by any Director for
consideration in the same way that any other matter may be proposed to the Directors under the provisions of
these Articles;

(b)

any requirement as to the quorum for consideration of the relevant matter is met without counting the Interested
Director and any other interested Director; and

(c)

the matter is agreed to without the Interested Director voting or would be agreed to if the Interested Director’s and
any other interested Director’s vote is not counted.

Any authorisation of a conflict of interest under this Article must be recorded in writing (but the authority shall be effective
whether or not the terms are so recorded) and may (whether at the time of giving the authorisation or subsequently):
(a)

extend to any actual or potential conflict of interest which may reasonably be expected to arise out of the matter or
situation so authorised;

(b)

provide that the Interested Director be excluded from the receipt of documents and information and the
participation in discussions (whether at meetings of the Directors or otherwise) related to the conflict of interest;
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(c)

impose upon the Interested Director such other terms for the purposes of dealing with the conflict of interest as the
Directors think fit;

(d)

provide that, where the Interested Director obtains, or has obtained (through his involvement in the conflict of
interest and otherwise than through his position as a Director) information that is confidential to a third party, he
will not be obliged to disclose that information to the Company, or to use it in relation to the Company’s affairs
where to do so would amount to a breach of that confidence; and

(e)

permit the Interested Director to absent himself from the discussion of matters relating to the conflict of interest at
any meeting of the Directors and be excused from reviewing papers prepared by, or for, the Directors to the extent
they relate to such matters.

116.5

Where the Directors authorise a conflict of interest, the Interested Director will be obliged to conduct himself in accordance
with any terms and conditions imposed by the Directors in relation to the conflict of interest.

116.6

The Directors may revoke or vary such authorisation at any time, but this will not affect anything done by the Interested
Director, prior to such revocation or variation, in accordance with the terms of such authorisation.

116.7

A Director is not required, by reason of being a Director (or because of the fiduciary relationship established by reason of
being a director), to account to the Company for any remuneration, profit or other benefit which he derives from or in
connection with a relationship involving a conflict of interest which has been authorised by the directors or by the Company
in general meeting (subject in each case to any terms, limits or conditions attaching to that authorisation) and no contract
shall be liable to be avoided on such grounds.

117.
117.1

Directors’ Permitted Interests
A Director cannot vote or be counted in the quorum on any resolution relating to any transaction or arrangement with the
Company in which he has an interest and which may reasonably be regarded as likely to give rise to a conflict of interest but
can vote (and be counted in the quorum) on the following:
(a)

giving him any security, guarantee or indemnity for any money or any liability which he, or any other person, has
lent or obligations he or any other person has undertaken at the request, or for the benefit, of the Company or any
of its subsidiary undertakings;
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(b)

giving any security, guarantee or indemnity to any other person for a debt or obligation which is owed by the
Company or any of its subsidiary undertakings, to that other person if the Director has taken responsibility for
some or all of that debt or obligation. The Director can take this responsibility by giving a guarantee, indemnity or
security;

(c)

a proposal or contract relating to an offer of any shares or debentures or other securities for subscription or
purchase by the Company or any of its subsidiary undertakings, if the Director takes part because he is a holder of
shares, debentures or other securities, or if he takes part in the underwriting or sub-underwriting of the offer;

(d)

any arrangement for the benefit of employees of the Company or any of its subsidiary undertakings which only
gives him benefits which are also generally given to employees to whom the arrangement relates;

(e)

any arrangement involving any other company if the Director (together with any person connected with the
Director) has an interest of any kind in that company (including an interest by holding any position in that
company or by being a shareholder of that company). This does not apply if he knows that he has a Relevant
Interest;

(f)

a contract relating to insurance which the Company can buy or renew for the benefit of the Directors or a group of
people which includes Directors; and

(g)

a contract relating to a pension, superannuation or similar scheme or a retirement, death, disability benefits scheme
or employees’ share scheme which gives the Director benefits which are also generally given to the employees to
whom the scheme relates.

117.2

A Director cannot vote or be counted in the quorum on a resolution relating to his own appointment or the settlement or
variation of the terms of his appointment to an office or place of profit with the Company or any other company in which the
Company has an interest.

117.3

Where the Directors are considering proposals about the appointment, or the settlement or variation of the terms or the
termination of the appointment of two or more Directors to other offices or places of profit with the Company or any
company in which the Company has an interest, a separate resolution may be put in relation to each Director and in that case
each of the Directors concerned shall be entitled to vote and be counted in the quorum in respect of each resolution unless it
concerns his own appointment or the settlement or variation of the terms or the termination of his own appointment or the
appointment of another director to an office or place of profit with a company in which the Company has an interest and the
Director seeking to vote or be counted in the quorum has a Relevant Interest in it.
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117.4

A company shall be deemed to be one in which the Director has a Relevant Interest if and so long as (but only if and so
long as) he is to his knowledge (either directly or indirectly) the holder of or beneficially interested in one per cent or more of
any class of the equity share capital of that company (calculated exclusive of any shares of that class in that company held as
treasury shares) or of the voting rights available to members of that company. in relation to an alternate Director, an interest
of his appointor shall be treated as an interest of the alternate Director without prejudice to any interest which the alternate
Director has otherwise. Where a company in which a Director has Relevant Interest is interested in a contract, he also shall
be deemed interested in that contract.

117.5

If a question arises at a Board meeting about whether a Director (other than the chairman of the meeting) has an interest
which is likely to give rise to a conflict of interest, or whether he can vote or be counted in the quorum, and the Director
does not agree to abstain from voting on the issue or not to be counted in the quorum, the question must be referred to the
chairman of the meeting. The chairman’s ruling about the relevant Director is final and conclusive, unless the nature and
extent of the Director’s interests have not been fairly disclosed to the Directors. If the question arises about the chairman of
the meeting, the question must be directed to the Directors. The chairman cannot vote on the question but can be counted in
the quorum. The Directors’ resolution about the chairman is final and conclusive, unless the nature and extent of the
chairman’s interests have not been fairly disclosed to the Directors.

118.

General

For the purposes of Articles 114 to 116 inclusive (which shall apply equally to alternate Directors):
118.1

An interest of a person who is connected (which word shall have the meaning given to it by section 252 of the Act) with a
Director shall be treated as an interest of the Director.

118.2

A contract includes references to any proposed contract and to any transaction or arrangement or proposed transaction or
arrangement whether or not consulting a contract.

118.3

A conflict of interest includes a conflict of interest and duty and a conflict of duties.

118.4

Subject to the Companies Acts, the Company may by ordinary resolution suspend or relax the provisions of Articles 114 to
116 to any extent or ratify any contract not properly authorised by reason of a contravention of any of the provisions of
Articles 114 to 116.

119.

Power to Authenticate Documents

Any Director, the Secretary or any person appointed by the Board for the purpose shall have power to authenticate any documents
affecting the constitution of the Company and any resolution passed by the Company or the Board or any committee, and any books,
records, documents and accounts relating to the business of the Company, and to certify copies or extracts as true copies or extracts.
Where any books, records, documents or accounts are not at the office,
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the local manager or other officer of the Company who has their custody shall be deemed to be a person appointed by the Board for
this purpose. A document purporting to be a copy of a resolution, or an extract from the minutes of a meeting, of the Company or the
Board or any committee which is so certified shall be conclusive evidence in favour of all persons dealing with the Company that such
resolution has been duly passed or, as the case may be, that any minute so extracted is a true and accurate record of proceedings at a
duly constituted meeting.
120.

Use of Seals

120.1

The Board shall provide for the safe custody of the Seal. A Seal shall not be used without the authority of the Board or of a
committee of the Board so authorised.

120.2

Subject as otherwise provided in these Articles, every document which is sealed using the Seal must be signed by at least
one authorised person in the presence of a witness who attests the signature. An authorised person for this purpose is any
Director, the Secretary or any other person authorised by the Directors for the purpose of signing documents to which the
Seal is applied.

120.3

The Seal shall be used only for sealing securities issued by the Company and documents creating or evidencing securities so
issued. Any such securities or documents sealed with the Seal shall not require to be signed unless the Board decides
otherwise or the law otherwise requires.

120.4

The Board may decide who will sign an instrument to which a Seal is affixed (or in the case of a share certificate, on which
the Seal may be printed) either generally or in relation to a particular instrument or type of instrument and may also
determine either generally or in a particular case that a signature may be dispensed with or affixed by mechanical means.

121.

Declaration of Dividends

Subject to the Act and these Articles, the Company may by ordinary resolution declare dividends to be paid to members according to
their respective rights and interests in the profits of the Company. However, no dividend shall exceed the amount recommended by the
Board.
122.

Interim Dividends

Subject to the Act, the Board may declare and pay such interim dividends (including any dividend at a fixed rate) as appears to the
Board to be justified by the profits of the Company available for distribution. If the Board acts in good faith, it shall not incur any
liability to the holders of shares for any loss that they may suffer by the lawful payment of any interim dividend on any other class of
shares ranking with or after those shares.
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123.

Calculation and Currency of Dividends

Except as provided otherwise by the rights attached to shares, all dividends:

124.

(a)

shall be declared and paid accordingly to the amounts paid up (otherwise than in advance of calls) on the shares
on which the dividend is paid;

(b)

shall be apportioned and paid proportionately to the amounts paid up on the shares during any portion or portions
of the period in respect of which the dividend is paid, but if any share is issued on terms that it shall rank for
dividend as from a particular date, it shall rank for dividend accordingly; and

(c)

may be declared or paid in any currency. The Board may decide the rate of exchange for any currency
conversions that may be required and how any costs involved are to be met.

Amounts Due on Shares Can Be Deducted From Dividends

The Board may deduct from any dividend or other money payable to any person on or in respect of a share all such sums as may be
due from him to the Company on account of calls or otherwise in relation to the shares of the Company. Sums so deducted can be used
to pay amounts owing to the Company in respect of the shares.
125.

Dividends Not in Cash

The Board may, by ordinary resolution of the Company direct, or in the case of an interim dividend may without the authority of an
ordinary resolution direct, that payment of any dividend declared may be satisfied wholly or partly by the distribution of assets, and in
particular of paid up shares or debentures of any other company, or in any one or more of such ways. Where any difficulty arises
regarding such distribution, the Board may settle it as it thinks fit. in particular, the Board may:

126.

(a)

issue fractional certificates (or ignore fractions);

(b)

fix the value for distribution of such assets or any part of them and determine that cash payments may be made to
any members on the footing of the values so fixed, in order to adjust the rights of members; and

(c)

vest any such assets in trustees on trust for the person entitled to the dividend.

No Interest on Dividends

Unless otherwise provided by the rights attached to the share, no dividend or other monies payable by the Company or in respect of a
share shall bear interest as against the Company.
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127.

Method of Payment

127.1

The Company may pay any dividend, interest or other sum payable in respect of a share in cash or by direct debit, bank
transfer, cheque, dividend warrant, or money order or by any other method, including by electronic means, as the Board may
consider appropriate. For uncertificated shares, any payment may be made by means of the relevant system (subject always
to the facilities and requirements of the relevant system) and such payment may be made by the Company or any person on
its behalf by sending an instruction to the operator of the relevant system to credit the cash memorandum account of the
holder or joint holders of such shares or, if permitted by the Company, of such person as the holder or joint holders may in
writing direct.

127.2

The Company may send such payment by post or other delivery service (or by such means offered by the Company as the
member or person entitled to it may agree in writing) to the registered address of the member or person entitled to it (or, if
two or more persons are holders of the share or are jointly entitled to it because of the death or bankruptcy of the member or
otherwise by operation of law, to the registered address of such of those persons as is first named in the Register) or to such
person and such address as such member or person may direct in writing.

127.3

Every cheque, warrant, order or other form of payment is sent at the risk of the person entitled to the money represented by
it, shall be made payable to the person or persons entitled, or to such other person as the person or persons entitled may
direct in writing. Payment of the cheque, warrant, order or other form of payment (including transmission of funds through a
bank transfer or other funds transfer system or by such other electronic means as permitted by these Articles or in accordance
with the facilities and requirements of the relevant system concerned) shall be good discharge to the Company. If any such
cheque, warrant, order or other form of payment has or shall be alleged to have been lost, stolen or destroyed the Company
shall not be responsible.

127.4

Any joint holder or other person jointly entitled to a share may give an effective receipt for any dividend or other monies
payable in respect of such share.

127.5

The Board may, at its discretion, make provisions to enable any member as the Board shall determine to receive duly
declared dividends in a currency or currencies other than sterling. For the purposes of the calculation of the amount
receivable in respect of any dividend, the rate of exchange to be used to determine the foreign currency equivalent of any
sum payable as a dividend shall be such rate or rates and the payment shall be on such terms and conditions as the Board
may in its absolute discretion determine.
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128.

Uncashed Dividends

If cheques, warrants or orders for dividends or other sums payable in respect of a share sent by the Company to the person entitled to
them are returned to the Company or left uncashed on two consecutive occasions or, following one occasion, reasonable enquires have
failed to establish any new address to be used for the purpose, the Company does not have to send any dividends or other monies
payable in respect of that share due to that person until he notifies the Company of an address to be used for the purpose.
129.

Unclaimed Dividends

All dividends, interest or other sums payable and unclaimed for 12 months after having become payable may be invested or otherwise
made use of by the Board for the benefit of the Company until claimed. The Company shall not be a trustee in respect of such
unclaimed dividends and will not be liable to pay interest on it. All dividends that remain unclaimed for 12 years after they were first
declared or became due for payment shall (if the Board so resolves) be forfeited and shall cease to remain owing by the Company.
130.

Scrip Dividends

Subject to the Act, the Board may, by ordinary resolution of the Company and subject to such terms and conditions as the Board may
determine, offer to any holders of ordinary shares (excluding any member holding shares as treasury shares) the right to elect to receive
ordinary shares, credited as fully paid, instead of cash in respect of the whole (or some part, to be determined by the Board) of any
dividend specified by the ordinary resolution. The following provisions shall apply:
(a)

the said resolution may specify a particular dividend, or may specify all or any dividends declared within a
specified period or periods but such period may not end later than the fifth anniversary of the date of the meeting
at which the ordinary resolution is passed;

(b)

the entitlement of each holder of ordinary shares to new ordinary shares shall be such that the relevant value of the
entitlement shall be as nearly as possible equal to (but not greater than) the cash amount (disregarding any tax
credit) of the dividend that such holder would have received by way of dividend. For this purpose relevant value
shall be calculated by reference to the average of the middle market quotations for the ordinary shares, certificated
or uncertificated depositary instruments in respect of such shares, on NASDAQ (or any other publication of a
recognised investment exchange showing quotations for the Company’s ordinary shares), for the day on which the
ordinary shares are first quoted “ex” the relevant dividend and the four subsequent dealing days, or in such other
manner as the Board may determine on such basis as it considers to be fair and reasonable. A certificate or report
by the Company’s auditors as to the amount of the relevant value in respect of any dividend shall be conclusive
evidence of that amount;
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(c)

no fractions of a share shall be allotted. The Board may make such provisions as it thinks fit for any fractional
entitlements including provisions where, in whole or in part, the benefit accrues to the Company and/or under
which fractional entitlements are accrued and/or retained and in each case accumulated on behalf of any member
and such accruals or retentions are applied to the allotment by way of bonus to or cash subscription on behalf of
any member of fully paid ordinary shares and/or provisions where cash payments may be made to members in
respect of their fractional entitlements;

(d)

the Board shall, after determining the basis of allotment, notify the holders of ordinary shares in writing of the right
of election offered to them, and specify the procedure to be followed and place at which, and the latest time by
which, elections must be lodged in order to be effective. No such notice need to be given to holders of ordinary
shares who have previously given election mandates in accordance with this Article and whose mandates have not
been revoked. The accidental omission to give notice of any right of election to, or the non-receipt (even if the
Company becomes aware of such non-receipt) of any such notice by, any holder of ordinary shares entitled to the
same shall neither invalidate any offer of an election nor give rise to any claim, suit or action;

(e)

the Board shall not proceed with any election unless the company has sufficient reserves or funds that may be
capitalised, and the Board has authority to allot sufficient shares, to give effect to it after the basis of the allotment
is determined;

(f)

the Board may exclude from any offer or make other arrangements in relation to any holders of ordinary shares
where the Board considers that the making of the offer to them or in respect of such shares would or might involve
the contravention of the laws of any territory or that for any other reason the offer should not be made to them or
in respect of such shares;

(g)

the Board may establish or vary a procedure for election mandates in respect of future rights of election and may
determine that every duly effected election in respect of any ordinary shares shall be binding on every successor in
title to the holder;

(h)

the dividend (or that part of the dividend in respect of which a right of election has been offered) shall not be
payable on ordinary shares in respect of which an election has been duly made (elected ordinary shares) and
instead additional ordinary shares shall be allotted to the holders of the elected ordinary shares on the basis of
allotment determined as stated above. For such purpose the Board may capitalise, out of any amount for the time
being standing to the credit of any reserve or fund (including any share premium account or capital redemption
reserve) or of any of the profits which could otherwise have been applied in paying dividends in cash as the Board
may determine, a sum equal to the aggregate nominal amount of the additional ordinary shares to be allotted on
such basis and apply it in paying up in full the appropriate number of unissued ordinary shares for allotment and
distribution to the holders of the elected ordinary shares on such basis. The Board may do all acts and things
considered necessary or expedient to give effect to any such capitalisation;
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131.

(i)

the Board may decide how any costs relating to the new shares available in place of a cash dividend will be met,
including to deduct an amount from the entitlement of a holder of ordinary shares under this Article;

(j)

the additional ordinary shares so allotted shall rank pari passu in all respects with each other and with the fully
paid ordinary shares in issue on the record date for the dividend in respect of which the right of election has been
offered, except that they will not rank for any dividend or other distribution or other entitlement which has been
declared, paid or made by reference to such record date; and

(k)

the Board may terminate, suspend, or amend any offer of the right to elect to receive ordinary shares in lieu of any
cash dividend at any time and generally may implement any scrip dividend scheme on such terms and conditions
as the Board may determine and take such other action as the Board may deem necessary or desirable in respect of
any such scheme.

Capitalisation of Reserves

The Board may, with the authority of an ordinary resolution of the Company:
(a)

subject as provided in this Article, resolve to capitalise any undivided profits of the Company not required for
paying any preferential dividend (whether or not they are available for distribution) or any sum standing to the
credit of any reserve or fund of the Company which is available for distribution or standing to the credit of the
share premium account of capital redemption reserve or other undistributable reserve;

(b)

appropriate the sum resolved to be capitalised to the members in proportion to the nominal amounts of the shares
(whether or not fully paid) held by them respectively which would entitle them to participate in a distribution of
that sum if the shares were fully paid and the sum were then distributable and were distributed by way of dividend
and apply such sum on their behalf either in or towards paying up the amounts, if any, for the time being unpaid
on any shares held by them respectively, or in paying up in full unissued shares or debentures of the Company of
a nominal amount equal to that sum, and allot the shares or debentures credited as fully paid to those members or
as they may direct, in those proportions, or partly in one way and partly in the other, provided that:
(i)

the share premium account, the capital redemption reserve, any other undistributable reserve and any
profits which are not available for distribution may, for the purposes of this Article, only be applied in
paying up in full shares to be allotted to members credited as fully paid;

(ii)

the Company will also be entitled to participate in the relevant distribution in relation to any shares of
the relevant class held by it as treasury shares and the proportionate entitlement of the relevant class of
members to the distribution will be calculated accordingly; and
- 54 -

(iii)

in a case where any sum is applied in paying amounts for the time being unpaid on any shares of the
Company or in paying up in full debentures of the Company, the amount of the net assets of the
Company at that time in not less than the aggregate of the called up share capital of the Company and its
undistributable reserves as shown in the latest audited accounts of the Company or such other accounts
as may be relevant and would not be reduced below that aggregate by the payment of it;

(c)

resolve that any shares so allotted to any member in respect of a holding by him of any partly paid shares shall, so
long as such shares remain partly paid, rank for dividends only to the extent that such partly paid shares rank for
dividends;

(d)

make such provision by the issue of fractional certificates (or by ignoring fractions or by accruing the benefit of it
to the Company rather than to the members concerned) or by payment in cash or otherwise as it thinks fit in the
case of shares or debentures becoming distributable in fractions;

(e)

authorise any person to enter on behalf of such members concerned into an agreement with the Company
providing for either:
(i)

the allotment to them respectively, credited as fully paid up, of any shares or debentures to which they
may be entitled on such capitalisation; or

(ii)

the payment up by the Company on behalf of such members by the application of their respective
proportions of the reserves or profits resolved to be capitalised, of the amounts or any part of the
amounts remaining unpaid on their existing shares,

(any agreement made under such authority being effective and binding on all such members); and
(f)
132.

generally do all acts and things required to give effect to such resolution.

Record Dates

132.1

Notwithstanding any other provision of these Articles but without prejudice to the rights attached to any shares and subject
always to the Act, the Company or the Board may by resolution specify any date (record date) as the date at the close of
business (or such other time as the Board may determine) on which persons registered as the holders of shares or other
securities shall be entitled to receipt of any dividend, distribution, interest, allotment, issue, notice, information, document or
circular. Such record date may be before, on or after the date on which the dividend, distribution, interest, allotment, issue,
notice, information, document or circular is declared, made, paid, given, or served.

132.2

in the absence of a record date being fixed, entitlement to any dividend, distribution, interest, allotment, issue, notice,
information, document or circular shall be determined by reference to the date on which the dividend is declared, the
distribution allotment or issue is made or the notice, information, document or circular made, given or served.
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133.

Inspection of Records

No member (other than a Director) shall have any right to inspect any accounting record or other document of the Company unless he
is authorised to do so by law, by order of a court of competent jurisdiction, by the Board or by ordinary resolution of the Company.
134.
134.1

Account to Be Sent to Members
in respect of each financial year, a copy of the Company’s annual accounts, the strategic report, the Directors’ report, the
Directors’ remuneration report, the auditor’s report on those accounts and on the auditable part of the Directors’
remuneration report shall be sent or supplied to:
(a)

Every member (whether or not entitled to receive notices of general meetings);

(b)

Every holder of debentures (whether or not entitled to receive notice of general meetings);

(c)

Every other person who is entitle to receive notice of general meetings;

not less than 21 clear days before the date of the meeting at which copies of those documents are to be laid in accordance with the Act.
134.2

This Article does not require copies of the documents to which it applies to be sent or supplied to:
(a)

a member or holder of debentures of whose address the Company is unaware; or

(b)

more than one of the joint holders of shares or debentures.

134.3

The Board may determine that persons entitled to receive a copy of the Company’s annual accounts, the strategic report, the
Directors’ report, the Directors’ remuneration report, the auditor’s report on those accounts and on the auditable part of the
Directors’ remuneration report are those persons entered on the Register at the close of business on a day determined by the
Board, provided that the day determined by the Board may not be more than 21 days before the day that the relevant copies
are being sent.

134.4

Where permitted by the Act, a strategic report with supplementary material in the form and containing the information
prescribed by the Act may be sent or supplied to a person so electing in place of the documents required to be sent or
supplied by Article 134.1.

135.
135.1

Service of Notices
The Company can send, deliver or serve any notice or other document, including a share certificate, to or on a member:
(a)

personally;
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135.2

(b)

by sending it through the postal system addressed to the member at his registered address or by leaving it at that
address addressed to the member;

(c)

through a relevant system, where the notice or document relates to uncertificated shares;

(d)

where appropriate, by sending or supplying it in electronic form to an address notified by the member to the
Company for that purpose;

(e)

where appropriate, by making it available on a website and notifying the member of its availability in accordance
with this Article; or

(f)

by any other means authorised in writing by the member.

in the case of joint holders of a share:
(a)

service, sending or supply of any notice, document or other information on or to one of the joint holders shall for
all purposes be deemed a sufficient service on, sending or supplying to all the joint holders; and

(b)

anything to be agreed or specified in relation to any notice, document or other information to be served on, sent or
supplied to them may be agreed or specified by any one of the joint holders and the agreement or specification of
the first named in the Register shall be accepted to the exclusion of that of the other joint holders.

135.3

Where a member (or, in the case of a joint holders, the person first named in the Register) has a registered address outside the
United Kingdom but has notified the Company of an address within the United Kingdom at which notices, documents or
other information may be given to him or has given to the Company an address for the purposes of communications by
electronic means at which notices, documents or other information may be served, sent or supplied to him, he shall be
entitled to have notices served, sent or supplied to him at such address or, where applicable, the Company may make them
available on a website and notify the holder of that address. Otherwise no such member shall be entitled to receive any
notice, document or other information from the Company.

135.4

If on three consecutive occasions any notice, document or other information has been sent to any member at his registered
address or his address for the service of notices (by electronic means or otherwise) but has been returned undelivered, such
member shall not be entitled to receive notices, documents or other information from the Company until he shall have
communicated with the Company and supplied in writing a new registered address or address within the United Kingdom
for the service of notices or has informed the Company of an address for the service of notices and the sending or supply of
documents and other information in electronic form. For these purposes, any notice, document or other information served,
sent or supplied by post shall be treated as returned undelivered if the notice, document or other information is served, sent or
supplied back to the Company (or its agents) and a notice, document or other information
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served, sent or supplied in electronic form shall be treated as returned undelivered if the Company (or its agents) receives
notification that the notice, document or other information was not delivered to the address to which it was served, sent or
supplied.
135.5
136.

The Company may at any time and in its sole discretion choose to serve, send or supply notices, documents or other
information in hard copy form alone to some or all of the members.
Notice on Person Entitled by Transmission

The Company may give notice to the person entitled to a share because of the death or bankruptcy of a member or otherwise by
operation of law, by sending or delivering it in any manner authorised by these Articles for the giving of notice to a member, addressed
to that person by name, or by the title of representative of the deceased or trustee of the bankrupt or representative by operation of law
or by any like description, at the address (if any) within the United Kingdom supplied for the purpose by the person claimed to be so
entitled or to which notices may be sent in electronic form. Until such an address has been so supplied, a notice may be given in any
manner in which it might have been given if the death or bankruptcy or operation of law had not occurred.
137.

Record Date For Service

Any notice, document or other information may be served, sent or supplied by the Company by reference to the register as it stands at
any time not more than 15 days before the date of service, sending or supplying. No change in the register after that time shall
invalidate that service, sending or supply. Where any notice, document or other information is served on, sent or supplied to any person
in respect of a share in accordance with these Articles, no person deriving any title or interest in that share shall be entitled to any
further service, sending or supplying of that notice, document or other information.
138.

Evidence of Service

138.1

Any notice, document or other information, addressed to a member at his registered address or address for service in the
United Kingdom shall, if served, sent or supplied by first class post, be deemed to have been served or delivered on the day
after the day when it was put in the post (or, where second class post is employed, on the second day after the day when it
was put in the post). Proof that an envelope containing the notice, document or other information was properly addressed
and put into the post as a prepaid letter shall be conclusive evidence that the notice was given.

138.2

Any notice, document or other information not served, sent or supplied by post but delivered or left at a registered address or
address for service in the United Kingdom (other than an address for the purposes of communications by electronic means)
shall be deemed to have been served or delivered on the day on which it was so delivered or left.
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138.3

Any notice, document or other information, if served, sent or supplied by electronic means shall be deemed to have been
received on the day on which the electronic communication was sent by or on behalf of the Company notwithstanding that
the Company subsequently sends a hard copy of such notice, document or other information by post. Any notice, document
or other information made available on a website shall be deemed to have been received on the day on which the notice,
document or other information was first made available on the website or, if later, when a notice of availability is received or
deemed to have been received pursuant to this Article. Proof that the notice, document or other information was properly
addressed shall be conclusive evidence that the notice by electronic means was given.

138.4

Any notice, document or other information served, sent or supplied by the Company by means of a relevant system shall be
deemed to have been received when the Company or any sponsoring system-participant acting on its behalf sends the issuerinstruction relating to the notice, document or other information.

138.5

Any notice, document or other information served, sent or supplied by the Company by any other means authorised in
writing by the member concerned shall be deemed to have been received when the Company has carried out the action it has
been authorised to take for that purpose.

139.

Notice When Post Not Available

If at any time by reason of the suspension, interruption or curtailment of postal services within the United Kingdom the Company is
unable effectively to convene a general meeting by notices sent through the post, the Company need only give notice of a general
meeting to those members with whom the Company can communicate by electronic means and who have provided the Company with
an address for this purpose. The Company shall also advertise the notice in at least one national newspaper published in the United
Kingdom and make it available on its website from the date of such advertisement until the conclusion of the meeting or any
adjournment of it. in any such case the Company shall send confirmatory copies of the notice by post to those members to whom
notice cannot be given by electronic means if, at least seven days prior to the meeting, the posting of notices to addresses throughout
the United Kingdom again becomes practicable.
140.
140.1

Indemnity and Insurance
in this Article:
(a)

companies are associated if one is a subsidiary of the other or both are subsidiaries of the same body corporate;
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140.2

(b)

a relevant officer means any Director or other officer or former director or other officer of the Company or an
associated company (including any company which is a trustee of an occupational pension scheme (as defined by
section 235(6) of the Act), but excluding in each case any person engaged by the Company (or associated
company) as auditor (whether or not he is also a director or other officer), to the extent he acts in his capacity as
auditor); and

(c)

relevant loss means any loss or liability which has been or may be incurred by a relevant officer in connection
with that relevant officer’s duties or powers in relation to the company, any associated company or any pension
fund or employees’ share scheme of the company or associated company.

Subject to Article 140.4, but without prejudice to any indemnity to which a relevant officer is otherwise entitled:
(a)

each relevant officer shall be indemnified out of the Company’s assets against all relevant loss and in relation to
the Company’s (or any associated company’s) activities as trustee of an occupational pension scheme (as defined
in section 235(6) of the Act), including any liability incurred by him in defending any civil or criminal
proceedings, in which judgment is given in his favour or in which he is acquitted or the proceedings are otherwise
disposed of without any finding or admission of any material breach of duty on his part or in connection with any
application in which the court grants him, in his capacity as a relevant officer, relief from liability for negligence,
default, breach of duty or breach of trust in relation to the Company’s (or any associated company’s) affairs; and

(b)

the Company may provide any relevant officer with funds to meet expenditure incurred or to be incurred by him
in connection with any proceedings or application referred to in Article 140.2(a) and otherwise may take any
action to enable any such relevant officer to avoid incurring such expenditure.

140.3

This Article does not authorise any indemnity which would be prohibited or rendered void by any provision of the
Companies Acts or by any other provision of law.

140.4

The Directors may decide to purchase and maintain insurance, at the expense of the Company, for the benefit of any relevant
officer in respect of any relevant loss.

141.
141.1

Scheme of Arrangement
In this Article, references to the “Scheme” are to the scheme of arrangement dated 9 April 2019 between the Company and
the holders of Nightstar Scheme Shares (as defined in the Scheme) under Part 26 of the Act in its original form or with or
subject to any modification, addition or condition agreed by the Company and Biogen Switzerland Holdings GmbH
(“Bidder”) (which expression includes any other name which Bidder may adopt from time to time) and which the Court
may approve and (save as defined in this Article) expressions defined in the Scheme shall have the same meanings in this
Article.
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141.2

Notwithstanding any other provision of these Articles or the terms of any resolution, whether ordinary or special, passed by
the Company in general meeting, if the Company issues any ordinary shares (other than to Bidder or Tungsten Bidco
Limited, a wholly-owned subsidiary of Bidder (“Bidco”) or any parent undertaking or subsidiary undertaking or nominee of
Bidder or Bidco) on or after the adoption of this Article and on or prior to the Scheme Record Time (as defined in the
Scheme), such shares shall be issued subject to the terms of the Scheme (and shall be Nightstar Scheme Shares for the
purposes thereof) and the original or any subsequent holder or holders of such ordinary shares shall be bound by the Scheme
accordingly.

141.3

Subject to the Scheme becoming Effective, if the Company issues or is obliged to issue any ordinary shares in the Company
to any person (a “New Member”) after the Scheme Record Time (other than under the Scheme or to Bidder, Bidco or any
parent undertaking or subsidiary undertaking or nominee of Bidder or Bidco) (the “Post-Scheme Shares”), such New
Member (or any subsequent holder or any nominee of such New Member or any such subsequent holder) will, provided the
Scheme has become Effective, be obliged to transfer all the ordinary shares in the Company held by the New Member (or
any subsequent holder or any nominee of such New Member or any such subsequent holder) to Bidco (or as Bidco may
direct) who shall be obliged to acquire all of the Post-Scheme Shares. In consideration for the transfer of the Post-Scheme
Shares, the purchaser shall pay to the New Member the Consideration for each Post-Scheme Share transferred to it (or such
lesser or greater amount as may be payable for Nightstar Scheme Shares under the Scheme if each Post-Scheme Share were
a Nightstar Scheme Share), provided that any New Member may, prior to the issue of any Post-Scheme Shares to such New
Member pursuant to the exercise of an option or satisfaction of an award under any of the Nightstar Share Schemes, give not
less than five Business Days’ written notice to the Company in such manner as the board shall prescribe of their intention to
transfer some or all of such Post-Scheme Shares to their spouse or civil partner. Any such New Member may, if such notice
has been validly given, on such Post-Scheme Shares being issued to such New Member, immediately transfer to their spouse
or civil partner any such Post-Scheme Shares, provided that such Post-Scheme Shares shall then be immediately transferred
from that spouse or civil partner to Bidco (or as Bidco may direct) pursuant to this Article as if the spouse or civil partner
were a New Member. Where a transfer of Post-Scheme Shares to a New Member’s spouse or civil partner takes place in
accordance with this Article, references to “New Member” in this Article shall be taken as referring to the spouse or civil
partner of the New Member. If notice has been validly given pursuant to this Article but the New Member does not
immediately transfer to their spouse or civil partner the Post-Scheme Shares in respect of which notice was given, such
shares shall be transferred directly to Bidco (or as Bidco may direct) pursuant to this Article.
For the purposes of this Article, “Nightstar Share Schemes” means:
(i)

the Nightstar Therapeutics plc 2017 Equity Incentive Plan; and

(ii)

the terms governing the Pre-IPO Equity Awards,

each as amended from time to time.
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141.4

On any reorganisation of, or material alteration to, the share capital of the Company (including, without limitation, any
subdivision and/or consolidation) effected after the Effective Date, the amount of Consideration due to a New Member for
each Post-Scheme Share pursuant to Article 141.3 above may be adjusted by the board of the Company and the directors of
Bidder in such manner as the auditors of the Company may determine to be appropriate to reflect such reorganisation or
alteration. References in this Article to ordinary shares shall, following such adjustment, be construed accordingly.

141.5

To give effect to any transfer of Post-Scheme Shares, the Company may appoint any person as attorney and agent for the
New Member (the “agent”) to transfer the Post-Scheme Shares to Bidco (or as Bidco may direct) and do all such other
things and execute and deliver all such documents as may in the opinion of the agent be necessary or desirable to vest the
Post-Scheme Shares in Bidco (or another person as directed by Bidco), and pending such vesting to exercise all such rights
attaching to the Post-Scheme Shares as Bidco may direct. If an agent is so appointed, the New Member shall not thereafter
(except to the extent that the agent fails to act in accordance with the directions of Bidco) be entitled to exercise any rights
attaching to the Post-Scheme Shares unless so agreed by Bidco. The agent shall be empowered to execute and deliver as
transferor a form of transfer or other instrument or instruction of transfer on behalf of the New Member (or any subsequent
holder) in favour of Bidco and/or another person as directed by Bidco and the Company may give a good receipt for the
Consideration for the Post-Scheme Shares and may register Bidco and/or another person as directed by Bidco as holder
thereof and issue to it certificates for the same. The Company shall not be obliged to issue a certificate to the New Member
for the Post-Scheme Shares. Bidco shall, subject to Article 141.3 above, settle the Consideration due to the New Member
within 14 days of the issue of the Post-Scheme Shares to the New Member.

141.6

Notwithstanding any other provision of these Articles, neither the Company nor the board shall register the transfer of any
Nightstar Scheme Shares effected between the Scheme Record Time and the Effective Date.

141.7

If the Scheme shall not have become Effective by the date referred to in Clause 5 of the Scheme, this Article 141 shall be of
no effect.
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EXHIBIT 31.1
CERTIFICATIONS
I, David Fellows, certify that:
1.

I have reviewed this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q of Nightstar Therapeutics plc;

2.

Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the
statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;

3.

Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the
financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

4.

The registrant’s other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange
Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the
registrant and have:

5.

(a)

Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to
ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those
entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;

(b)

Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our
supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for
external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;

(c)

Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the
effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and

(d)

Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’s most recent
fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to
materially affect, the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and

The registrant’s other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the
registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s supervisory board (or other persons performing the equivalent functions):
(a)

All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are reasonably
likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

(b)

Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s internal control
over financial reporting.

/s/ David Fellows
David Fellows
Chief Executive Officer
(Principal Executive Officer)
Dated May 9, 2019

EXHIBIT 31.2
CERTIFICATIONS
I, Senthil Sundaram, certify that:
1.

I have reviewed this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q of Nightstar Therapeutics plc;

2.

Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the
statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;

3.

Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the
financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

4.

The registrant’s other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange
Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the
registrant and have:

5.

(a)

Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to
ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those
entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;

(b)

Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our
supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for
external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;

(c)

Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the
effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and

(d)

Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’s most recent
fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to
materially affect, the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and

The registrant’s other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the
registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s supervisory board (or other persons performing the equivalent functions):
(a)

All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are reasonably
likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

(b)

Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s internal control
over financial reporting.

/s/ Senthil Sundaram
Senthil Sundaram
Chief Financial Officer
(Principal Financial Officer)
Dated May 9, 2019

EXHIBIT 32.1
CERTIFICATION
PURSUANT TO 18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350,
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO
SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002
In connection with the Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q of Nightstar Therapeutics plc (the “Company”) for the period ended March 31, 2019 as
filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on the date hereof (the “Report”), the undersigned, David Fellows, Chief Executive Officer of the
Company, hereby certifies, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, that:
(1)

The Report fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended; and

(2)

The information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of the Company.

/s/ David Fellows
David Fellows
Chief Executive Officer
(Principal Executive Officer)
Dated May 9, 2019

EXHIBIT 32.2
CERTIFICATION
PURSUANT TO 18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350,
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO
SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002
In connection with the Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q of Nightstar Therapeutics plc (the “Company”) for the period ended March 31, 2019 as
filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on the date hereof (the “Report”), the undersigned, Senthil Sundaram, Chief Financial Officer of the
Company, hereby certifies, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, that:
(1)

The Report fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended; and

(2)

The information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of the Company.

/s/ Senthil Sundaram,
Senthil Sundaram,
Chief Financial Officer
(Principal Financial Officer)
Dated May 9, 2019

